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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012
The consohdated financial statements are prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) The
Company financial statements continuc to be prepared under United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (UK GAAP) as permitted by IFRS | and the Companies Act 2006

Principal activities

The Company’s prnncipal activity continues to be the ultimate holding company for the JUST EAT Group (“the
Group™) The Group focuscs on the provision of on-hne takeaway ordening for restaurants and consumetrs around the
world

Business review

The JUST EAT Group achieved turnover of £59 8 mullion for the year (2081 £33 8m), up 77% on 2011 The increase
m Group turnover was driven by a 75% growth in order numbers to over 26 5 mulhion in 2012 from 15 | mallion n
2011 The number of dehivery restaurants 1 the TUST EAT network increased from 21,000 to over 32,000 by the end
of 2012

Underlying EBITDA 1s the main measure of operating result for the Group 1t 1s based on EBITDA but excludes the
effects of acquisition related costs, the tong term employce mcentive plan, foreign exchange movements, loss on
disposal of fixed assets and impairments Underlying EBITDA for the Group was £2 3 mithion (2011 £0 1 millien), as
the Group continued 1ts policy of reinvesting all profits back into the business

During 2012, the Group made a number of acquisitions to further solidify its leading position in the markets in which
it opcrates In Apnl 2012 the Group suceessfully acquired FillMyBelly Lamuted, the UK's third largest provider of
online takeaway thus consolidating the Group’s number | position 1n the UK market In September 2012, the Group
completed the acquisition of SinDelantal com, strengthening s market leading position i the Spamish market The
Group also bought out minonty interests 1 three of ity businesses in Belgium and the Netherlands wn January 2012
and Canada in January 2013 In each case the Group increased its ownership to 100%

The financial statements include a £7 2 milhon impairment charge m respeet of the Group's Dutch business This 15
the one market 1 which the Group operates where 1t 1« not the largest online takeaway portal  As such, the Group™s
strategic plans and route to profitabihity for this business do not follow the same profile as the other businesses 1n the
Group As a result of this, the Group does not expect the Dutch busingess to be profitable in the foresecable future

in March 2012 the Group agreed to sell its 19% punonty stake in OnlimePizza Norden AB for £6 7 milhon,
representing « significant return on the initial investment

In Apnl 2012 the Group successfully completed its £40 0 milhon Series € fund raising round which raised ‘new
moncy’ of £35 1 milhion from a group of nvestors led by Vitruvian Partners LLLP, with Index Ventures, Greylock
Partners and Redpomt Ventures also participating The investment will be used to continue the Group’s growth,
entrics (nto new countries and product mnovation. further cementing its global lcadership i the online takeaway
calegory

Klaus Nyengaard resigned as Director and CEO on 31 January 2013 Afier conducting a comprehensive search the
Board appointed David Buttress, the Chief Commercial Officer and former UK Managing Director as CEO




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties

The business operates n a fast moving and techmcal environment To protect against technology becoming obsolete
and to preserve and build market share, management has embarked on a recruitment dnive to attract talented staff m
key business areas such as onhine marketing, technology, product and business development The Group 15 1n a strong
position to preserve and build market share through a diverse and pro-active marketing effort and through access to
significant equuty finance

The Group has substantial operations cutside the UK and as such 1s exposed to movements in exchange rates The
Group has two established geographies (UK and Denmark) which are profitable and cash generaive The Head Office
and the majonty of the technology expenditure 1s mcurred 1n Pound Sterling  The Group has a number of countnes
that operate i the Eurozone, which gives nse to foreign exchange risk The Group 1s able to benefit from a natural
hedge against some of the currency exposure within the Eurozone as the Damsh Kroner 1s pegged to the Euro The
Group does not currently enter into forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure

Capital structure

Details of the 1ssued share capital, together with details of the movement 1n the Company’s 1ssued share capital duning
the year are shown in note 26 The Company has two classes of ordinary share The Company also has three classes
of preference share which carry no right to fixed income Additional details relating to the capital structure of the
business are included 1n note 26

Details of employee share schemes are set out 1n notes 7, 32 and 36 No person has any special rights of control over
the Company’s share capital and all 1ssued shares are fully paid

Going concern

At the date of signing, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances despite the current economic uncertainty that
could lead to the Group being unable to pay commtments as they fall due durning the twelve months from date of
signing, therefore the accounts have been prepared under the going concern basis

At 31 December 2012, the Group had net current assets of £25 2 million and generated cash inflows from operating
activities of £10 1 million

On 30 Apnil 2012 the Group secured the closure of a financing round of £40 mullion ($65 mullion} led by funds
managed by Vitruvian Partners, a European private equity firm, with Index Ventures, Greylock Partners and Redpoint
Ventures also participating  This investment marks the Company’s third and largest funding round 1n less than three
years The investment will be used to continue the Group’s growth, entries 1nto new countrtes and product innovation,
further cementing 1ts global leadership in the online takeaway category

Dividends

The directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend (2011 £ml)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a number of financial nisks including credit nsk, cash flow nisk and hiquidity nsk
The Group on the whole does not currently use denvative financial instruments to manage these risks and nstead
monitors risks on a case by case basis to ensure effective action 1s taken to mitigate risk where necessary




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Cash flow risk

The Group's activities expose 1t primarnly to the financial nsks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates The two
established geographies (UK and Denmark) are profitable and cash generative The Head Office and the majonity of
the technology expenditure 1s incurred in Pound Sterling The Group has a number of countnes that operate 1n the
Eurozone, and the Group 1s therefore able to benefit from a natural hedge against some of the currency exposure
within the Eurozone as the Danish Kroner 1s pegged to the Euro

Credit nisk
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and trade & other receivables

The Group’s credit nisk 1s pnmanly attnbutable to trade receivables The amounts presented 1n the balance sheet are
net of allowances for doubtful receivables but shown gross m the notes to the accounts An allowance for impairment
1s made where there 1s an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, 1s evidence of a reduction 1 the
recoverability of cash flows

The Group has no significant concentration of credit nisk, with 1ts mimimal exposure spread over a large number of
enfittes The credit rnisk on hqud funds 1s hmited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by mnternational credit-rating agencies

Ligurduty risk

Ultimate responsibility for hiqudity nisk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an
appropnate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short-, medium- and long-term
funding and hqumdity management requirements The Group manages hiquudity risk by maimntaimng adequate cash
reserves, by continuously momitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the matunity profiles of financial
assets and habihties

Directors

The directors, who served throughout the year to date of signing except as noted, were as follows

J Hughes CBE (Chairman)

L Bowden

D Buttress (appointed 9 July 2013)

F Coorevits

B Holmes

K Nyengaard (resigned 31 January 2013)
Vitruvian Directors 1 Limited (appomted 27 Apnl 2012)

Directors’ indemnities

The Company has made qualifying third party indemmty provisions for the benefit of its directors which were made
during the year and remain in force at the date of this report




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)

Directors’ interests

The dircctors who held office at 31 December 2012 had the following interests in the Ordinary and Ordinary B shares
and also the Preference shares of the Company (this has been calculated on a fully diluted basis)

31 December As at date of

2012 signing
Name of director
J Hughes CBE 033% 033%
L. Bowden 004% -
F Coorevits - -
B Holmes - -
K Nyecngaard {resigned 31 January 2013) 1 73% 1 73%

Vitruvian Directors 1 Limiuted - -

Supphlier payment policy

The Group's policy 15 to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, ensure
that suppliers arec made aware of the terms of payment and abide by those terms  Trade creditors of the Group at 31
December 2012 were equivalent to 11 days’ (2011 9 days®) purchases, based on the average daily amount invoiced
by suppliers durning the year

Chanitable and political contributions

During the year several companies within the Group made charitable donations of £3,905 (2011 £ml) As part of a
marketing campaign, Just-Eat co uk Ltd made pohtical donations of £75,000 (2011 £nil) to the Don’t Cook Party, a
political party who supported the candidate Mr Mozzarella on his campaign to become a Member of Parliament for
Corby, campaigning for pcople’s nghts to have a night off from cooking

Employees

The Group’s employment policies are designed to ensure that the Group 1s able to attract the highest calibre of
employees from all sectors of the commumties in which 1t operates This helps ensure that the Group competes at the
highest level with comparable companies The Group values diversity in the work place and 1s commtted to
providing equality of opportumty to all employees and potential employeces It actively encourages continuous
training and skill development 1n all 1ts businesses

In the Group, the focus on advanced technologies requires a high level of technical expertise and management works
closely with vendors to ensure that employees are trained appropriately Management 1s commutted to bwilding an
environment where e¢ach employee can fulfil their potential

The Group’s personnel practices cnsure that every employce, wherever they work, whatever their role, 1s treated
cqually, fairly and respectfully at ali times Adherence to health and safety standards ensures that our people are
properly protected and cared for, wherever they operate  The Group maintains consistent and transparent diversity
policies across all our markets We firmly believe that carcer opportumity, recogmtion and reward should be
determined by a person’s capabilitics and achievement, not their age, sex, race, religion or nationahity

The policy of the Group for the employment of disabled persons 1s to provide equal opportumties with other
employees to tran for and attain any position n the Group, having regard to the mamntenance of a safe working
environment and the constraints of their disabilities

To support the Group’s commitment to open communication with employees, the Group discusses with employees,
through bniefings and an international portal matters hkely to affect employces® interests  Information on matters of
concern to employees 1s given through notices, meetings and reports, including information to help employees achieve
a common awareness of the factors affecting the performance of the Group




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)

Restatement of 2011 balances

Untid 2012, the Group accounted for its joint ventures using the proportional consolidation method, as permutted under
1AS 31 Interests mn Joint Ventures In 2012, the Group elected to change 1ts accounting policy to equity accounting 1n
preparation for the adoption of IFRS 11 Jownt Arrangements which requires the equity accounting method of
consolidation of jomntly controlled entities This has resulted in Eat ch GmbH and FBA Invest SaS bemg shown as
smgle lines on the income statement and statement of financial position, rather than the Group’s proportion of their
results being added to every line on the pnimary statements Please see note 41 for more detail

Revenue 1s dertved from commussion, Just Connect Technology (JCT) box equipment fees as well as connection and
installation fees charged to restaurants JCT boxes are order confirmation termunals situated at restaurant sites for the
purposes of communicating between end user customers and restaurants via the central Just-Eat ordering
infrastructure

The JICT connection and installation fee revenue 1s deferred to the balance sheet and recognised on a straight line basis
over 12 months The connection and installation fees are non-refundable and 12 months 1s considered to be the
required peniod of service Revenue from the connection and installation of JCTs was previously recogmsed
immediately on installation

As a result of these changes 1n accounting policies, the 2011 comparatives are required to be restated Please see note
41 for the impact of these restatements

Post balance sheet events
Through the acquisition of Power & Power Investments Inc 1n January 2013 the Group acquired the 18% munority
stake 1n Just-Eat Canada Inc not previously held The Group now has an effecuve 100% shareholding in Just-Eat

Canada Inc The total consideration payable 1s dependent on the performance of the Canadian business, but will be no
more than Canadian $3 Om (£1 9 mullion)

The loan to Eat ch GmbH was converted to equity in February 2013, taking the Group’s interest in this entity to 64%




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)

Auditor
Each of the persons who 15 a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that

* so far as the director 1s aware, therc 1s no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor 1s unaware,
and

¢ the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor 1s aware of that information

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companics Act
2006

A resolution to reappoint Deloitte LLP will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

By order of the Board,

S

David Buttress
Chief Executive

% September 2013




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements 1n accordance with
apphcable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have elected to preparc the Group financial statements 1n accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and the parent Company financial statements 1n accordance with
Umnited Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounuing Standards and apphcable
law) Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they arc satisfied that they
give a truc and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that penod

In prepanng the parent Company financial statements, the directors are required to
¢ sclect suitable accounting polictes and then apply them consistently,
* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasenable and prudent,

e state whether apphcable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departurcs
disclosed and explammed in the financal statements, and

» prepare the financial statements on the gomng concern basis unless 1t 1S mapproprtate to presume that the Company
wilt continue in business

In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requirces that directors
» properly sclect and apply accounting polictes,

» present information, including accounting pohicies, 1n a manner that provides relevant, rehable, comparable and
understandable information,

e provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in [FRSs are insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial
position and financial performance, and

* make an assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
cnable them to ensurc that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregulanties

Dawvid Buttress
Chief Executive

% September 2013




Independent auditor’s report to the members of Just-Eat Group Holdings
Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 December 2012
which compnise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive [ncome, the
Consohidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consohdated
Staternent of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 47 The financial reporting framework that has been applied
n the preparation of the Group financial statements 1s applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union  The financial reporting framework that has been applied 1n the
preparation of the parent Company financial statements 1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards
(Umted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are requircd te state to them 1n an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent pernutted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opimons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully 1n the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view  Our responsibility 1s to audit and
express an opinion on the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ircland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical
Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaimng evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financtal statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statcments are free from matenal rmisstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error  This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group’s and the parent
Company’s circumstances and have been consistently apphed and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements  In
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information n the annual report to identify materal
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements  If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or
inconsistencies we constder the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinton

s the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as
at 31 December 2012 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended,

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared 1n accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Umion,

e the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accerdance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

* the financial statements have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

10




Independent auditor’s report to the members of Just-Eat Group Holdings
Limited (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following matters where the Compames Act 2006 requires us to report to
you if, 1n our opinion

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us, or

¢ the parent Company financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
s certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Aol Clommett

John Clennett FCA (Semiar Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Reading, United Kingdom

26 September 2013
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 31 December 2012

Continuing operations

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Impairment charges

Long term employee incentive provision
Acquisition related costs

Other admimistrative expenses

Total admnistrative expenses
Sharc of results of joint ventures

Operating loss
Other gains
Finance income
Finance costs
Loss before tax
Tax

Loss for the year
Attnibutable to

Owners of the Company
Non-controlhng interests

* Sce note 41

Note

14

26,33

18

4,11
12

13

3

Year
Year ended
ended 201
2012 Restated*
£'000 £°000
59,770 33,765
(5,062) (3,156}
54,708 30,609
(7,320) (18)
(1,624) (231)
(227) (432)
(54,679 (31,428
(63,850) (32,109)
(521) (257)
(9,663) (1,757
6,946 -
206 99
(117) (74)
(2,628) (1,732)
(1,877) 497
(4,505) (1,235
(3,871 (607)
(634) (628)
(4,505) (1,235)




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December 2012

Loss for the year

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Fair value adjustment on avatilable for sale financial asset

Exchange diffcrences on available for sale financial asset

Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income

Reclassified to income statement on sale of available for sale
financial asset

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Attributable to

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

* See note 41

29
29
29
29

31

Year
Year ended
ended 2011
2012 £°000
£7000 Restated*
(4,505) (1,235
31D (152)
(233) 4,624
5 98
71 (983)
(3,450) -
(3,918) 3,587
(8,423) 2,352
(7,794) 2,985
(629) (633)
(8.423) 2,352
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 December 2012

Note
Non-current assets
Goodwll 14
Other intangible assets 15
Property, plant and equipment 16
Investments 19
Interests i joint ventures 18
Deferred tax asset 24
Current assets
Inventories 20
Trade and other receivables 21
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22
Current tax liabilities
Borrowings 23
Deferred revenue 37
Provisions for habilities and charges 25
Net current assets/(liabilities)
Non-current habihties
Deferred tax habilities 24
Deferred revenue 37
Provisions for habilhitics and charges 25

Total labilities

Net assets

* See note 41

2011
£°000
2012 Restated*
£°000 £°000
6,957 4,587
3,342 1,334
5,013 2,861
- 6,918
7,167 7,247
772 1,026
23,251 23,973
435 42
4,492 2,432
50,026 7,858
54,953 10,332
78,204 34,305
(25,020) (11,024)
(1,564) 9N
- (63)
(2,442) (1,715
(718) (483)
(29,744) (13,378)
25,209 (3,046)
(703) (1,360)
(1,287) (751)
- (645)
(1,990) (2,756)
(31,734) (16,134)
46,470 18,171
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)
31 December 2012

Note
Equity
Share capital 26
Share premium account 27
Sharcs to be issued 26
Merger reserve 28
Other reserves 29
Sharc based payment reserve 32
Retained carmings 30
Equity attributable to owners of the

Company

Non-controlling interests 31

Total equity

* See note 41

2011

2012 Restated*
£7000 £7000
92 91
55,674 19,408
56 -
1,921 1,921
(444) 3,493
776 306

(11,252) (7,205)
46,823 18,014
(353) 157
46,470 18,171

The financial statements of Just-Eat Group Holdimgs Limited, registered number 06947854 were approved by the

Board of Directors on 2§ September 2013
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

Vbt

David Buttress
Chief Executive

26 September 2013
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 December 2012

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Intcrest reccived

Funding provided to joint venture

Net cash outflow on mvestment in OnhinePizza Norden AB
Net cash inflow upon sale of OnlinePizza Norden AB

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

Net cash outflow on acquisition of interest 1n joint-ventures
Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Decrease 1n borrowings

Net proceeds anising on 1ssue of shares

Decrease in bank overdrafts

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Note

34

19
25,33

16

23
25,26
23

Year
Year ended
ended 2011
2012 £°000
£2000 Restated
10,103 4,885
223 99
{543} (624}
- (1,628)
6,397 -
(5,080) (3,144)
(332) (7,154)
(3,805) (2,101)
(3,140) (14,552)
(54) (1,041)
35,230 14,780
(9) (1,096)
35,167 12,643
42.130 2,976
7,858 4.934
38 (52)
50,026 7,858




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1 Accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopted by the European Umon and
therefore the Group financial statements comply with Article 4 of the EUl 1AS Regulaton The Company financial
statements continue to be prepared under UK GAAP as permutted by [FRS | Fuirst-time Adoption of International
Fmancial Reporfing Standards and the Companies Act 2006

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial
mstruments Histoncal cost 15 generally based on the fair value of the consideration given 1n exchange for the assets
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below These polices have been consistently applied to all years
presented

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Just-Eat Group Holdings Limuted (the
‘Company’) and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year Control 1s
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities The Company also has interests in Joint Ventures which are accounted for using
equity accounting These were previously recogmsed under the proportional consolidation method, therefore the 2011
comparatives have been restated i preparation for IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements, IFRS 11 Joint
Arrangements and 1FRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities becoming effective

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropnate Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidianes to bring the accounting pohicies used into line with
those used by the group  All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolhidation

Non-controlling interests in subsidianes are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein The interests of
non-controlling shareholders may be imitially measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the fair value of the acquaree’s identifiable net assets The choice of measurement 1s made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests 1s the amount of those
mterests at 1imtial recogmtion plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity Total
comprehensive income 1s attnibuted to non-controlling interests even 1f this results in the non-controlling 1nterests
having a deficit balance

Changes 1n the Group’s interests 1n subsidianes that do not result 1n a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes 1n their relative mterests 1n the subsidiaries Any difference between the amount by which the non-controliing
mntercsts are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received 1s recognised directly mm equity and
attnbuted to the owners of the Company

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal 1s calculated as the difference between (1)
the aggregate of the far value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retamed mterest and (u1) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less habilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
mterests

Amounts previously recogmsed i other comprehensive income m relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (1 ¢
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) 1n the same manner as would be required if the
rclevant assets or liabilitics are disposed of The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control 1s lost 1s regarded as the fair value on tial recognition for subsequent accounting under 1AS 39
Fwancial Instruments Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the costs on mitial recogmition of an
mvestiment i an associate or jontly controlled entity




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Going concern

At the date of signing, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances despite the current economic uncertainty that
could lead to the Group being unable to pay commitments as they fall due during the twelve months from date of
sigmng, thercfore the accounts have been prepared under the going concern basis

At 31 December 2012, the Group had net current assets of £25 2 million and generated cash inflows from operating
activities of £10 1 mullion The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect tts future
development, performance and position are set out in the directors’ report on page 3 This also describes the financal
position of the Group, 1ts cash flows, hquidity position and borrowing facilities, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing 1ts exposure to credit risk and hiquidity nsk

On 30 Apnl 2012 the Group successfully completed its £40 0 mullion Series C fund rasing round which raised “new
money” of £35 1 million from a group of investors led by funds managed by Vitruvian Partners, a European private
equity firm, with Index Ventures, Greylock Partners and Redpoint Ventures also participating This investment marks
the Company’s third and largest funding round n less than two years The investment will be used to continue JUST
EAT’s growth, entnies into new countries and product innovation, further cementing its global leadership mn the online
takcaway category

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method The consideration for each
acquisition 15 measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabihities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments 1ssued by the Group n exchange for control of the acquiree Acquisition-related
costs are recognised 1n profit or loss as incurred

Where apphcable, the consideration for the acquisihon includes any asset or hability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair valuc Subsequent changes n such far values are
adjusted against the cost of acquisttion where they qualify as measurement perod adjustments (sce below) All other
subsequent changes i the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or hability are accounted for in
accordance with relevant IFRSs

Where a business combination 1s achigved n stages, the Group’s previously-held interests 1n the acquired entity are
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (1 ¢ the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if
any, 1s recogmsed n profit or loss Amounts ansing from interests 1 the acquiree prior to the acquisithion date that
have previously been recogmsed mn other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such
treatment would be appropnate 1f that interest were disposed of

The acquiree’s 1dentifiable assets, habilitics and contingent habilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
IFRS 3(2008) Business Combinations are recogmsed at thewr fair value at the acquisition date, except that

¢ deferred tax assets or habilities and habilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recogmsed
and measured 1n accordance with 1AS 12 fncome Taxes and 1AS 19 Employee Benefits respectively,

e liabilities or equity mstruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based payment
awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, and

s assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale 1in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured 1 accordance with that Standard

If the 1imhal accounting for a business combination 1s incomplete by the end of the reporting period 1 which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting 1s mcomplete
Those provisional amounts are adjusted durmg the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or labilities
are recogmsed, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date that, 1f known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date

The measurement peried 1s the penod from the date of acquisition to the date the Group ebtains complete information
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and 15 subject to a maximum of one year




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Joint ventures

The Group has investments 1n jointly controlled entities and recognises 1ts interest using the equity method Aggregate
amounts of current and long-term asscts and habilities, income and expenses are disclosed in note 18 Where
applicable, the aggregate amount of capital commitments and contingent ltabilities are also discltosed

Until 2012, the Group accounted for its joint ventures using the proportional consolidation method, as recommend by
IAS 31 Interests in Jomnt Ventures However, in 2012 the Group elected to change its accounting policy to equity
accounting in preparation for new accounting standards that require this method of presentation These new standards,
which become effective for penods beginming on or after 1 January 2013, are [FRS 10 Consolidated financial
statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entines As a consequence of
this change 1n accounting policy, the nct result of the joint ventures are shown 1n a single line on the Consolidated
Income Statement and the Consohdated Balance Sheet, rather than the Group’s proportion of their results bemng added
to every line on the primary statements Please sce note 41 for more detail

Goodwill

Goodwill ansing 1in a business combination 1s recogmsed as an asset at the date that control 1s acquired (the
acquisition date} Goodwill 1s measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling intercst 1in the acquirce and the fair valuc of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (1f any) n
the entity over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 1dentifiable asscts acquired and the habilitics assumed

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s 1dentifiable net assets exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling mterest mn the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess 1s recogmised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gan

Goodwill 15 not amortised but 1s reviewed for impairment at least annually For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill s allocated to each of the Group’s cash-gencrating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impawred  If the recoverable amount of the ¢ash-generating
unit 1s less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss 15 allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of cach assct in the umt An impaimment loss recogmsed for goodwill 1s not reversed in a subsequent period

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill 1s included 1n the determunation of the profit or loss
on disposal The Group’s policy for goodwill anising on the acquisition of an associate 1s described above

Revenue recognition

Revenue 15 derived from commussion, Just Connect Technology (JCT) box equipment fee as well as connection and
mstallation fees charged to restaurants

Commussion revenue, carned from restaurants, 1s carned and recogmsed at the point of order fulfilment to the
restaurant’s customers Commussion 15 measured at the fair value of the consideration received or recervable and
represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided n the normal course of business, net of discounts,
VAT and other sales-related taxes

JCT boxes are order confirmation terrminals situated at restaurant sites for the purposes of commumcating between end
user customers and restaurants via the central Just-Eat ordering infrastructure JCT box equipment fees are deferred to
the balance sheet and recognised on a straight linc basis over 36 months This 1s considered to be an appropnate time
period as the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the JCT box
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Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The JCT connection and installation fee revenue is payable on connection but deferred and recognised on a straight
line basis over 12 moanths The connection and installation fees are non-refundable and 12 months 1s considered to be
the required penod of service, as this 1s the period to which the customer becomes contractually commutied to

Leasing

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease cxcept where another more systematic basis 15 more representative of the time pattern 1in which economic
benefits from the lease asset are consumed Contingent rentals arnising under operating lcases are recognised as an
expense 1n the penod in which they are incurred

In the event that lease incentives are reccived to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
lability The aggregate bencfit of incentives 1s recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis 1s more representative of the tume pattern 1n which economic benefits from the
lcased asset arc consumed

Leascs are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lcase transfer substantiatly all the nsks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee All other leases arc classified as operating lcascs

Forengn currencies

The individual financial statements of each group Company are presented 1 the currency of the pnmary economic
environment i which 1t operates (its functional currency)} For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements,
the results and financial position of ecach group Company are expressed in pound sterling, which 1s the functional
currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements

In prepanng the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in cumencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recogmsed at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions At each balance shect date, monctary assets and hiabilities that are denominated 1n foreign currencies are
retranslated at the ratcs prevailing at that date Non-monetary tems carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies arc translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined Non-menctary
items that are measured 1n terms of historical cost 1n a foreign currency are not retranslated

Exchange differences are recogmsed in profit or loss in the penod 1in which they ansc except for

+ exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement 1s
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised imtially 1n other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the net investment

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and Liabihiies of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailling on the balance sheet date Income and expense items arc
translated at the average exchange rates for the penod, unless exchange rates fluctuate sigmificantly dunng that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used Exchange differences ansing, if any, are
recognised 1in other comprehensive income and accumulated 1n equity (attnbuted to non-controlling intercsts as
appropriate)

On the disposal of a foreign operation {1e a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of sigmificant influence over an associate that
mcludes a foreign opcration), all of the accumulated exchange differences 1n respect of that operation attributable to
the Group are reclassified to profit or loss

Goodwll and fair value adjustments ansing on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and habilities of
the foreign entity and translated at the clesing rate
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1. Accounting pohcies (contimued)
Operating profit or loss

Operating profit or loss 1s stated after charging for long-term employee incentive provisions, bad debt expense,
foreign exchange gains or losses, impairment charges and acquisition related costs but before other gains and losses,
finance income and finance costs

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due
Taxation

The tax cxpense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax

Current tax

The tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported n
the income statement because 1t excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 1n other years and
1t further excludes items that arc never taxable or deductible The group’s hiabihty for current tax 1s calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and habihitics 1n the financial statcments and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit,
and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method Deferred tax hatiliwes are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 1t 1s probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised Such assets and hiabihities are
not recogmsed 1f the temporary difference anses from the imtial recogmition of goodwill or from the imtial recognition
(other than 1n a busingss combination) of other assets and habilities 1n a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit Deferred tax habihties are recognised for taxable temporary differences ansing on
nvestments 1n subsidiaries and associates, and mterests 1n joint ventures, except where the group 1s able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and 1t 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 1n the foreseeable
future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at cach balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that 1t 1s
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assct to be recovered

Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates that arc expected to apply in the peniod when the habihty 1s settled or the
asset 1s realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred tax 1s charged
or credited 1n the income statement, except when 1t relates to ems charged or credited i other comprehensive
mcome, 1n which case the deferred tax 1s also dealt with 1in other comprehensive income

Deferred tax asscts and habilities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
aganst current tax habihties and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty and the Group
mntends to settle its current tax assets and hiabilities on a net basis
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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1, Accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets

The Group has four classes of intangible asset patents, intellectual property, restaurant lists and brands
Patents and Intellectual Property

Patents and Intellectual Property are included at cost and amortised 1n equal annual instalments over their useful
cconomic hife, which 1s typically 3-5 years depending on the period over which benefits are expected to be realised
from the asset Provision 1s made for any impairment

Restaurant lists

A Restaurant list intangible asset 1s recorded as part of the acquisition accounting for business combinations or when
an associate 1s acquired or joint venture established They are initially recorded at fair value and amortised over the
useful economic life of the asset This period of time 18 the period over which the acquired restaurant hst 1s reasonably
expected to confer economic benefits to the Group, usually ten years The fair values of restaurant hists are determined
with reference to the present value of their after tax cash flows projected over their remaiming uscful lives Cash flows
and discount rates used in the value in usc calculation are nsk adjusted to the extent deemed necessary by management
to accurately reflect tocal nsks and uncertaintics associated with the asset

Brands

A brand intangible assct 1s recorded as part of the acquisition accounting for business combmations or when an
associatc 1s acquired or joint venture established They arc mmtally recorded at fair value and amortised over the
useful economic hife of the asset, which 1s estimated at between 15 months and three years This period of time 1s the
period over which the acquired Brand 1s reasonably expected to confer economuc benefits to the Group Fair value of
Brand assets are established using the relief from royalty valuation method Cash flows and discount rates used 1n the
rehef from royalty model are risk adjusted to the extent deemed necessary by management to accurately reflect local
risks and uncertainties associated wath the asset

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed asscts arc stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment  Depreciation 1s
provided on all tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each
assct on a straight-line basis over its expected useful Iife, as follows

Fixtures and fittings 33% per annum
Equipment 33% per annum
Motor vehicles 33% per annum
Leaschold improvements 20% per annum or the period of the lease 1f shorter

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

Under IFRS, the Group 1s required to review for impairment at least annually or when indicators of impairment exist
On these occasions, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of 1ts tangible and imtangible assets to determine whether
there 15 any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss 1f any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset 15 estimated 1n order to detenmne the extent of the impairment loss (1f any) Where the asset does
not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating umit to which the assct belongs An intangible asset with an indefimte useful life 1s tested for
impairment at least annually and whenever there 1s an indication that the asset may be impaired

Recoverable amount 15 the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the tuime value of money and the nisks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s estimated to be less than us carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s reduced to 1ts recoverable amount An impairment loss 1s
recognised immediately in profit or loss

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating umit) 1s
increascd to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determmned had no impairment loss been recognised for the assct (or cash-
generating umit}) in prior years A reversal of an impairment loss 1s recogmised immediately 1n profit or loss

Inventories

Inventorics are stated at the lower of cost and nct rcalisable value Cost compnises direct matenals Cost 15 calculated
using the first 1n first out method Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial habtlites are recognised 1n the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a parnty
to the contractual provisions of the instrument

Financial assets

All financial assets are recogmsed and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset 18
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss, which are imtially measured at fair value

Fmancial assets are classified into the following specified categones financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or
loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-matunty’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and 1s determined at the time of 1mtial
recognition  The Group currently only holds ‘available-for-sale” (AFS) financial assets and *loans and receivables’

Available for sale financial assets

The Group has investments 1n unhsted shares that are not traded in an active market but are classified as AFS financial
asscts and stated at fair value (because the directors consider that fair value can be reliably measured) Fair value 1s
determined 1n the manner described 1n note 38 Gains and losses ansing from changes i fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve with the cxception of impairment
losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monectary
assets, which are recogmised 1n other comprehensive income Where the investment 1s disposed of or 1s determuned to
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recogmsed in the available for sale reserve 1s reclassified to profit
or loss

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated n a foreign currency 1s determined 1n that foreign currcney and
translated at the spot rate at the balance sheet date The foreign exchange gains and losses that arc recognised in profit
or loss are determined based on the amortised cost of the monetary asset Other foreign exchange gains and losses are
recogmsed 1 other comprehensive income

Loans and recervables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or deterrmnable payments that are not quoted 1n an
active market are classified as ‘loans and recetvables’ Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
cffective interest method, less any impairment Interest income 15 recognised by applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term recervables when the recogmtion of interest would be immatenal
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1 Accounting pohcies (continued)
Financial instruments {continued)
Imparrment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those held at fair value through profit and loss (‘FVTPL’), arc asscssed for indicators of
mmparnrment at each balance sheet date Financial assets are impaired where there 15 objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the imtial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows
of the investment have been affected

When an AFS financial asset 15 considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recogmised 1n other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecogmises a financial asset only when the contractual nights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when 1t transfers the financial asset and substantially all the nisks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained nterest 1n the asset and an associated hability for
amounts 1t may have to pay [f the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred

financial asset, the Group continues to recogmse the financial asset and also recogmises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received

Frnancral liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial habihities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial habilities’ The Group
currently does not hold any financial habilities “at FVTPL’

Other financtal abiliies
Other financial habihties, including borrowings, are mmitially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs

Other financial habilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis

The effective nterest method 1s a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial hability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period The effective nterest rate 1s the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropnate, a shorter penod, to the net
carrying amount on imhal recognition

Derecogrnition of financial habilities

The Group derecogmises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or they expire

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions
Details regarding the determunation of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 36

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments 1s expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest At each
balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of
the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions The tmpact of the revision of the onginal estimates, 1f any, 1s
recognised 1n profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reftects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share based payment reserve
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2.

New standards and interpretations

At the date of authonsation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not
been applicd 1n these financial statements were 1n 1ssuc but not yet cffective (and in some cases had not yet been
adopted by the EUJ)

IFRS 9 Financial instruments — Classification and Measurement

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

IFRS 12 Dusclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

Amendment to IFRS 1 Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 disclosures for first ime adopters’

Amendments to IFRS 1 ‘Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters’ - The amendments are effective for
annual peniods beginning on or after 1 July 2011 Earlier apphication 1s permitted EU endorsement 1s expected in
quarter 1 2013

Amendments to IFRS | Ferst-time Adoption of Internanonal Financial Reporting Standards - The amendments
to ‘First-time Adoption of IFRSs after a perod of Severe Hyperinflation® are effective for annual penods
beginming on or after 1 July 2011 Earher apphcation 15 permitted  EU endorsement 1s expected 1n quarter 1
2013

Amcndments to 1AS 12 Income Taxes *Deferred Tax Recovery of Underlying Assets” - The cffective date of the
amendments 1s for annual peniods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 Earlier application 1s permutted  EU
endorsement 15 expected i quarter 1 2013

Amcndments to 1AS | Presentation of Frnancial Statements ‘Presentation of Items of Other Comprchensive
Income’ - The amendmments to TAS set out in Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income are cffective
for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2012 with retrospective application  EU endorsement 1s ¢xpected
in quarter I 2013

Amcndments to IAS 19 Employee benefits - The amended version of TAS 19 comes into effect for financial years
beginning on ot after 1 January 2013  Retrospective application 1s required except where benefit costs are
mcluded in the carrying value of assets outside the scope of IAS 19 (e g inventones) these assets do not need to be
adjusted on adoption, and as noted above comparative information for the sensitivity disclosures are not required
for periods beginning before 1 January 2014  Earlier apphication 1s permitied  EU endorsement 1s expected 1n
quarter | 2013

‘Improvements to IFRSs 2011 - The amendments are effect for annual penods beginming on or after 1 January
2013 wath carhier application permutted A final version 1s expected 1n the quarter 1 2013
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2.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

Supplement to ED/2009/12 ‘IASB supplement to Financial instruments amortised costs and impairment’ - The
comment deadline for the [ASB proposals closed in Apnl 2011 The 1ASB intends to 1ssuc a re-exposurc or review
draft 1n quarter 2 2013 When finalised, the new impairment requirements will be added to IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments  EU endorsement of IFRS ¢ 1s currently postponed and it 1s expected that all the finanoial istrument
measures will be endorsed together when finalised

Amendments to 1AS 32 Financral Instruments Presentation ‘Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’
- The amendments to IAS 32 are not effective until annual periods beginming on or after 1 January 2014 However,
the new offsetting disclosure requirements are effective soener - for annual penods beginning on or after | January
2013 and intenim periods within those annual periods The amendments need to be provided retrospectively to all
comparative periods  EU endorsement 1s expected in quarter 1 2013

Amendments to IFRS 7 Fancial Instruments Disclosures - ‘Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” - The amendments to IAS 32 arc not effective until annual penods beginning on or after 1 January
2014 However, the new offsetting disclosurc requirements are effective sooner - for annual periods beginming on
or after | January 2013 and intenim periods within those annual penods The amendments need to be provided
retrospectively to all comparative pertods  EU endorsement 1s expected 1n quarter 2 2013

The directors anticipate the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations 1n future periods will have no matenal
impact on the financial statements of the Group, except for IFRS 9 ‘Financtal Instruments’, which will introduce a
number of changes in the presentation of financial instruments

IFRS 10 — 13 were 1ssued by the IASB on 12 May 2011 and are effective for annual periods beginming on or after
| January 2013

These pronouncements have not yet been endorsed for use in the EU The Group has not completed its assessment of
the impact of these pronouncements on the consolhidated results, financial position or cash flows of the Group
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3. Critical accounting Jjudgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounfing policies, which are described 1n note 1, the directors are required to make
Judgements, estmates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of asscts and liabiities that are not readily
apparent from other sources The estimates and associated assumptions are based on istorical expernience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant Actual results may differ from these estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting cstumates are
recogniscd 1n the penod m which the estimate 1s revised 1f the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
reviston and future penods 1f the revision affects both current and future periods The key assumptions concerming the
future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date used i prepanng these accounts are

Acqured intangible assets

An intangible resource acquired with a subsidiary undertaking 1s recogrused as an ntangible asset 1f 1t 1s separable
from the acquired business or arises from contractual or lcgal nghts, 15 cxpected to generate future economic benefits
and 1ts fair value can be measured rehably Acquired intangible assets, comprising brands and restaurant lists, are
amortised through the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over their cstimated econemic hives of
between three and ten yecars Significant judgement 1s required in determining the fair valee and economic lives of
acquired intangible assets See page 26 for further details

Share based payments

Judgements are applied n relation to estimations of the number of options that will vest and of the fair value of the
options granted to employees Estimates of fair value arc made using a widely recogmsed share option value model
and are referred to third party experts where necessary Judgement 15 apphed in determining the assumptions input
into the share option valuc model

Financial instruments

Denvative financial instruments are carred at fair value 1n accordance with [AS 39 Francial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement In determuning the fair value of dervatives, there 1s a degree of judgement involved
Where applicable valuations arc performed bascd on management’s best estimate of fair value with reference to
discounted cash flow models and the Company’s expenience of arms’ length transactions with third partics

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and ntangibles are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill has been allocated The value (n use calculation requires the Company to
estimate the future cash flows expected to anse from the cash-generating umts and a suitable discount ratc 1n order to
calculate the present value

Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s denved from commission, Just Connect Technology (JCT) box equipment fee as well as connection and
instaliation fees charged to restaurants JCT boxes are order confirmation terminals situated at restaurant sites for the
purposcs of communicating between end user customers and restaurants via the central Just-Eat ordering
infrastructure

JCT box cquipment fee 1s deferred to the balance sheet and recognised on a straight linc basis over 36 months As
restaurants use the JCT boxes for diffening periods of time, judgement 15 applied 1n determining the perod of service
over which to recognise the revenue

The JCT connection and nstallation fee revenue 15 payable on connection but deferred and recogmised on a straight
line basis over 12 months The connection and installation fees are non-refundable and 12 months 1s considered to be
the required period of service, as this 1s the perod to which the customer becomes contractually commutted to
Judgement 1s apphied in determiming the penod over which the connection and installation fee 1s earned
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3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred taxation

The recogmtion of defetred tax assets is based upon whether it 1s more hkely than not that sufficient and suitable
taxable profits will be available 1n the futurc against which the reversal of temporary differences can be deducted To
deterrune the future taxable profits, reference 1s made to the latest available profit forecasts Where the temporary
differences are related to losses, relevant tax law 1s considered to determine the availabihity of the losses to offset
against the future taxable profits Recogmtion of deferred tax assets therefore involves judgement regarding the future
financial performance of the particular legal entity or tax group 1n which the deferred tax asset has been recogmsed
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4. Income

An analysis of the Group’s revenue 1s as follows
Revenues generated from provision of services
Fmance income (see note 11)

S. Operating Segments

Sector analysis

Year

Year ended
ended 2011
2012 Restated
£'000 £'000
59,770 33,765
206 o9
59,976 33,864

The Group has three reportable segments (Umited Kingdom, Denmark (core business), and Other) Each segment
includes businesses with similar operating and marketing characternistics EBITDA 1s the main measure of profit used
by the Chief Operating Dectsion Maker (“CODM?”) to assess and manage performance The CODM 1s David Buttress,
the Group’s Chief Executive Officer Underlying EBITDA presents the operating result for the Group before the
effects of depreciation, amortisation, acquisition related costs, foreign currency translation differences, the long term
employee incentive plan, loss on disposal of fixed assets and impairments It also excludes mtra-group franchise fee

arrangements and mcorporates an allocation of group technology costs

Segment revenue:

United Kingdom
Denmark

Other
Inter-segment sales

Revenue for the period

Year Year ended

ended 2011
2012 £°000
£000 Restated
42,140 21,797
9,969 8,832
8,695 3,540
(1,034) (404)
59,770 33,765

Inter-segmental sales are charged at prevaihng market prices and have not been disclosed separately by segment as

they are not considered matenal The Group does not analyse revenue by product

Total 2012 revenues i Denmark (including our non-core Just Delivery busmess) were £11 3 miilion (2011 £9 8

milion} The non-core element of Denmark has been included in the ‘Other Segment™ n the table above
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5. Operating Segments (continued)

Segment underlying EBITDA and result:

United Kingdom
Denmark
Other

Total segment underlying EBITDA

Share of equity accounted joint ventures (excluding amortisation)
Head office costs

Underlying EBITDA

Leng term employee mcentive proviston
Impairment of assets

Foreign currency translation differences
Acquisition related expenses

EBITDA

Depreciation - Subsidianes
Amortisation - Substdiaries
Depreciatton and amortisation - Jomnt ventures
Loss on sale of fixed assets

Operating loss
Profit on sale of OnlineP1zza Norden AB
Profit on deemed disposal of Just-Eat Benelux BV

Net finance mcome

Loss before tax

Year
Year ended
ended 2011
2012 £°000
£°000 Restated
13,722 4,821
4,025 3,156
(13,104) (6,258)
4,643 1,719
(160) (213)
(2,173) (1,373)
2,310 133
(1,624) (23D
(7,320) (18)
(120} 138
(227) (432)
(6,981) “410)
(1,760) (1,114)
(529) (155)
(361) (44)
(32) (34)
(9,663) (1,757)
4.274 -
2,672 -
89 25
(2,628) (1,732)
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5. Operating Segments (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

Segment assets and habilities, excluding the allocation of goodwill, interests in associates and acquired intangible
assets, have been disclosed below This 1s the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of monitoring segment
performance and allocating resources between segmenis Other unallocated assets include centrally held cash and cash
equivalents, leaschold improvements and tax assets, and unallocated habiliies include contingent purchase
consideration, retirernent benefit provisions and tax habilities

Assets Liabilities

2012 2011 2012 2011

£7000 £000 £°000 £°000
United Kingdom 26,370 8,085 (17,275) (9,963)
Denmark 13,128 10,937 (6,312) (5,812)
Other 21,786 7,812 (20,702) (6,347}
Total segment assets/(hiabilities) 61,284 26,834 (44,289) (22,122)
Head office 125,765 63,477 (68,988) (40,127)
Investment tn OnlineP1zza Norden - 6,918 - -
Jomt ventures 7,167 7,247 - -

194,216 104,476 (113,277) {62,249)
Consolidation adjustments

Elimination of mntercompany debtors/creditors (84,149) (47,443) 84,149 47,443
Elimiation of intercompany investments (32,767) (23,577) - -
Tax habilities - - (2,267 (1,451)
Deferred tax assets 772 1,026 - -
Other consolidation adjustments 132 (177 (339) 123
Total 78,204 34,305 (31,734) (16,134)
Non-current additions, depreciation and Non-current asset Depreciation and
amortisation additions amortisation
2012 2011 2012 2011
£°000 £°000 £000 £7000
United Kingdom 2,941 1,734 1,069 773
Denmark 322 76 161 104
Other 11,956 3,755 787 333
15,219 5,565 2,017 1,210
Head office 1,213 260 272 59
Total 16,432 5,825 2,289 1,269
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6. Operating loss

[Loss for the year has been amved at after charging/(crediting)

Year

Year ended

ended 2011

2012 £2000

£°000 Restated

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,760 1,114
Amortisation of intangibles 529 155
Operating lease charges (see notc 35) 1,003 613
Forcign exchange loss/(gain) 120 (138)
Staff costs (see note 10) 26,367 17,850
Impairment charges (sec note 14) 7,320 18
Bad debt expensc (sce note 21) 411 179
Acquisition related expenses 227 432
Loss on sale of fixed asscts 32 34
Long term employec incentive provision (sce note 7) 1,624 231

7. Long term employee incentive provision

The total expense recorded n relation to the long term employee incentives was £1,624k (2011 £231k) This charge
mcludes £480k (2011 £231k) n relation to share based payments Please see note 36 for more details This charge
also includes bonuses paid to certain of the Group's scmor management for their longer term performance and the
Group’s achievement of certamn longer term goals in 2012 The charge has been disclosed separatcly in the income
statement as significant proportion of it 1s one-off 1n nature and not expected to recur

8 Other gains

Year Year

ended ended

2012 2011

£000 £°000

Profit on sale of OnlinePizza Norden AB (notc 19) 4,274 -
Profit on deemed disposal of Just-Eat Benelux BV (note 33) 2,672 -
Total 6,946 -
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9. Auditor’s remuneration

The analysis of auditor’s remuneration 1s as follows

Fees payable to the company’s audstor for the audit of the company’s annual report
Feces payable to the company’s auditor and 1ts associates for other services

Total audit fees
- Taxation comphiance services
- Taxation advisory scrvices
- Corporate finance services
- Other assurance services

- Other services

Total non-audit fees

Total fees

Year Year
ended ended
2012 2011
£000 £°000
44 45
134 90
178 135
56 10
297 11
154 103
50 -

8 3

565 127
743 262
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10 Staff costs

Average full time equivalent persons employed dunng the year (including
cxecutive directors) was

Their aggregate remuncration comprised

Wages and salanes

Social securnity costs

Pension costs

Share-based payments charge (see note 36)

Included within the above are the following amounts n respect of directors
remuneration

Wages and salares

Pension costs

The above 15 1n respect of two directors (2011 one)

Included within the above are the following amounts relating to the highest
paid director

Wages and salarics
Pension costs

2012 201
Number Number
702 414
702 414
Year

Year ended
ended 2011
2012 £°000
£°000 Restated
23,736 16,326
1,880 1,082
271 211
480 231
26,367 17,850
231 168

6 -

237 168
218 168

6 -

224 168
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11.  Finance income !
Year
Year ended
ended 2011

2012 £2000 |

£000  Restated \
Finance income

Bank deposits 206 99
Total finance income 206 99
12. Finance costs
Year |
Year ended
ended 2011
2012 £°000
£°000 Restated
[nterest on bank overdrafts and loans - 6
Intcrest on convertible loan notcs 40 68
Unwind of discount on deferred contingent consideration 77 -
Total interest expense 117 74
13, Tax
Year
Year ended
ended 2011
2012 £°000

£°'000 Restated
Corporation tax

Current year 2,346 515

Adjustment for prior years (318) 44
2,028 559

Deferred tax (see note 24)

Temporary timing differences (612) (1,091)

Adjustment for prior ycars 424 35

Rate change 37 -

(151) (1,056)

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 1,877 (497)
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13 Tax (continued)

Corporation tax 1s calculated at 24 5% (2011 26 5%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year Taxation for other
Junisdictions 1s calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective junsdictions

The Finance Act 2012 provided for a reduction 1n the corporation tax rate to 24% with effect from 1 April 2012

The charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as follows

Year
Year ended
ended 2011
2012 £2000
£°000 Restated
Loss before tax on continuing operations (2,628) (1,732)
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 24 5% (2011 26 5%) (644) (459)
Income not taxable - (295)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposcs 969 138
Share based payments (22) 383
Profit on sale of investment (1,047) -
Adjustment to prior perods 106 79
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiarics operating n other jurisdictions 129 3
Overseas taxes 268 2
Change i unrecogmised deferred tax asset 2,056 (369)
Reduction in tax rate in UK 62 21
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 1,877 (497)

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in alt tax junsdictions in respect of iming differences relating te tax
losses and short term tming differences where there 1s insufficient evidence that the asset will be recovered The
amount of the asset not recognised 1s £6 1 mullion (2011 £3 3 mullion) The asset would be recogmised if sufficient
suitable taxable profits were made in the future Please sec notc 24 for further details

Year

Year ended
ended 2011
2012 £7000

£000 Restated
Deferred tax not recogmsed:

Accelcrated capital allowances 35 N
Short term timing differences 26 32
Unreheved tax losses 5,403 2,834
Share based payments 523 288
Unrelicved tax losses in joint venture entitics 126 190
6,113 3,337
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14 Goodwill

Total

£7000
Cost at 1 January 2011 2,187
Recognised on acquisitton of subsidharies 2,663
Cumulative exchange differcnces (245
Cost at 31 December January 2011 4,605
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiaries (sce note 33) 8,654
Cumulative exchange differences (284)
Cost at 31 December 2012 12,975
Impairment charge for year to 31 December 2011 (18)
Imparrment charge for year to 31 December 2012 {6,000)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 6,957
Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 4,587

Goodwill acquired 1n a business combimation 1s allocated, at acquisition, to the Cash Generating Units (CGUs) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows

Goodwill allocated

by CGU
Legal entity Countryof CGU Long Discount
operation term rate
growth 2012 2011
rate £2000 £°000
Just Eat dk ApS Denmark Just-eat dk 2 1% 11 86% 1,781 1,795
Just Eat Host A/S Denmark Just Eat Host A/S 21% 11 86% 132 149
Just-Eat Canada Inc Canada Just-eat ca 21% 11 86% 562 632
Justeat Brasil Servicos Brazil Restaurnatewcb com 2 7% 15 38% 1,188 1,360
Online LTDA br
Just-Eat Italy S 1 Italy Just-eat 1t 36% 14 25% 376 387
Urbanbite Limited, Umnited Just-cat couk and its 2 1% 11 86% 895 136
EatStudent Ltd and Kingdom subsidianies
FiliMyBelly Limmted
SmDelantal Internet, S L. Spain Just-eat ¢s 36% 11 86% 2,023 -
Achindra Online India Just-cat in 36% 15 75% - 128
Marketing Private
Limited
Total 6,957 4,587
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14. Goodwill (continued)

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently 1f there are indications that goodwill might be
mmparred

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value m use calcelations The key assumptions for the
value 1n use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices
and direct costs during the period These assumptions continue to be revised in hght of the current economic
environment which has resulted 1n more conservative estimates about the future Management estimates discount rates
using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
CGUs The growth rates are based on management’s past expertence and future expectations Changes n selling
prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market It 1s anticipated
that sales volumes will grow n all junsdictions over the forthcoming years

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts dernived from the most recent financial budgets and forecasts approved by the
Board (which are currently for three years) and extrapolates cash flows out to 20 years based on an estimated growth
rates This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets

The rates used to discount the forecast cash flows lie in the range 11 54%to 15 75% (2011 12 92% to 17 13%)

At the beginming and end of the financial peniod, the fair value of goodwill was substantially 1n excess of 1ts book
value for all CGUs, with the exception of Achindra Online Marketing Private Limited and Just-Eat Benelux BV The
followang impairment charges have been recognised 1n respect of these entities 1n the year ended 31 December 2012

£000

Year ended 31 December 2012
Just-Eat Benelux BV
Goodwll 5,840
Restaurant list (note 15) 1,320
Total impairment 1n respect of Just-Eat Benelux BV 7,160
Goodwall impairment tn respect of Achindra Online Marketing

Private Luimted 125
Other 35
Total impairment charged to the income

statement 7,320

Just-Eat Benelux BV

£7 2 mulhon of the impawrment charge relates to the write-down, to their recoverable amounts, of the goodwall and
other intangible assets of the Group's Dutch business This 1s the one market in which the Group operates where 1t 15
not the largest online takeaway portal As such, the Group’s strategic plans and route to profitability for this business
do not follow the same profile as the other businesses in the Group As a result of thus, the Group does not expect the
Dutch busimess to be profitable in the foreseeable future Given this, the recoverable amounts of the Dutch intangible
assets have been determuned to be mil

In calculating the impairment in respect of the Group’s Dutch business both the value in use and fair value less cost to
sell of the CGU (being the Dutch business) were determined to be ml A pre-tax discount rate of 11 8§6% was used in
calculating the value n use
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14.  Goodwill (continued)
Achindra Online Marketing Private Limited

The carrying value of the goodwill 1n respect of Achindra Online Marketing Private Limited was £125k The Directors
have determined that 1ts recoverable amount 1s ml and as a result an impairment charge of £125k has been recorded in
the income statement

15.  Other intangible assets

Intellectual Restaurant

property lists Patents Brands Total
£000 £°000 £2000 £7000 £°000
Cost
At 1 January 2011 (restated) 115 303 162 - 580
Intangible asscts recognised through
acquisitions in the year - 1,060 - - 1,060
Exchange movements (2) (50) 3 - (55)
A1 31 December 2011 (restated) 113 1,313 159 - 1,585
Intangible assets recognised through
acquisitions in the year - 3,415 - 419 3,834
Exchange movements (3) 15 {4) 12 20
At 31 December 2012 110 4,743 155 431 5,439
Amortisation
At 1 January 2011 (restated) 3 20 76 - 99
Charge for the year 39 63 33 - 155
Exchange movements N (D )] - 3)
At 31 Dccember 2011 (restated) 41 82 128 - 251
Charge for the year 36 364 30 99 529
Impairments - 1,320 - - 1,320
Exchange movements n - 3 I (3)
At 31 December 2012 76 1,766 155 100 2,097
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2012 34 2,977 - 331 3,342
At 31 December 2011 (restated) 72 1,231 31 - 1,334

The amortisation penod for Intellectual property, Patents and Brands 1s fiftcen months to three years

Restaurant lists are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which 1s on average ten years
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16.  Property, plant and equpment

Fixtures and Leasehold
fittings Equpment improvements Total
£°000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 January 2011 (restated) 431 2,973 - 3,404
Additions 758 1,003 341 2,102
Exchange differences (6) (18) - (24)
Disposals 29) 37N - (60)
At 31 December 2011 (restated) 1,154 3,921 341 5416
Additions 764 2,456 724 31,944
Exchange differences (n (21) - (22)
Disposals 9) (786) - (795)
At 31 December 2012 1,908 5,570 1,065 8,543
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2011 (restated) 163 1,323 - 1,486
Charge for the year 219 878 17 L1114
Exchange differences n (12) - (13
Disposals (17 (15) - 32)
At 31 December 2011 (restated) 364 2,174 17 2,555
Charge for the year 185 1,489 86 1,760
Exchange differences {1 21 - (22)
Disposals (5 (758) - (763)
At 31 December 2012 543 2,884 103 3,530
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2012 1,365 2,686 962 5,013
At 31 December 2011 (restated) 790 1,747 324 2,861

At 31 December 2012, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and

equipment amounting to £1,753k (2011 £384k)
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17. Subsidiaries

A hist of the sigmificant investments in subsidianes, including the name, country of incorperation, and proportion of
ownership interest 1s given below

Representing: Country of Proportion of Proportion of Nature of business
incorporation  voting rights held  voting nights held
2012 2011
Subsidrary undertakings
Just Eat Group Limited UK Nil 100% Holding company
Just Eat Holding Litmted UK 100% 100% Holding and

management company

Just Eat co uk Ltd UK 100% 100% * Online takeaway portal
Biteguide GmbH Germany 100% 100% *  Online takeaway portal
Just-Eat Ireland Ireland 100% 100% *  Online takeaway portal
Just Eat Host A/S Denmark 100% 100% * Hosts scrvers

Just Eat dk ApS Denmark 100% 100% * Online takeaway portal
Just Eat no As Norway 100% 100% * Online takeaway portal
Just-Eat ca Management Canada 100% 100% * Holding company
Limted

Just Eat Canada Inc Canada 82% 82% *  Online takeaway portal
Just-Eat Belgie BVBA Belgium 100% 92% * Online takeaway portal
Just-Eat Spain SLU Spain 100% 100% *  Online takeaway portal
EatStudent Limited UK 100% 100% * Online takeaway portal
Justeat Brasil Servicos Brazil 100% 100% *  Online takeaway portal
Onltne LTDA

Achindra Online Marketing  India 84% 67% *  Online takeaway portal
Private Limited

Just-Eat [taly S Italy 100% 100% * Online takeaway portal
Urbanbite Holdings Limmted UK 100% 100% * Holding company
Urbanbite Limited UK 100% 100% *  Onhne takeaway portal
Yummyweb Inc Canada 100% 100% * Onhne takeaway portal
Just-Eat Benelux BV Netherlands 100% 56% * Online takeaway portal
FillMyBelly Limted UK 100% Nil * Onlime takeaway portal
SinDetantal Internet S L Spain 100% Nil * Onlinc takeaway portal
Jont venture

FBA Invest SaS France 50% 50% * Holding company

Eat On Line SaS France 50% 50% *  Online takeaway portal
Eat ch GmbH Switzerland 50% 30% * Online takeaway portal
Fixed asset investments

OnlincPi1zza Norden AB Sweden Nil 19% *  Onhine takeaway portal

* Indirect holding by Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

In January 2012, the Group bought out minority interests in two of its businesses where entire ownership was not held
Just-Eat Belgie BVBA, which operates in Belgium and Just-Eat Benelux BV, which operates in the Netherlands The
total consideration payable was £6 Om

On 17 Apnil 2012 the Group acquired 100% of the sharc capital of FillMyBelly Lumited for a consideration of £1 4m
This 1s a UK based trading company trading wath the name “fillmybelly com”
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17.  Subsidiaries (continued)

On 17 September 2012 a Group company acquired 100% of the share capital of SinDelantal Internet S L for a
consideration of £2 6 million, a company trading as “‘SinDelantal com” 1n Spain

In January 2011, the Group acquired a 33% sharecholding in Achindra Online Marketing Private Lumited, trading 1n
India as Hungryzone”, prior to 1ts rebranding as *“Just-eat in” This shareholding had increased to 84% by 31
December 2012 following a senes of capital injections

In March 2012, the Group agreed to sell its 19% munonty stake 1n OnlineP1zza Norden AB 1in Sweden for £6 7m,
representing a significant return on our mnvestment (see note 19)

In January 2013, the Group bought out the minority interest 1n 1ts Canadian business, Just Eat Canada Inc Please see
note 39 for further detail

18.  Joint ventures

Until 2012, the Group accounted for 1ts joint ventures using the proportional consolidation method, as recommended
by IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures However, 1n 2012 the Group elected to change its accounting policy to equity
accounting tn preparation for new accounting standards that require this method of presentation These new standards,
which become effective for penods beginming on or after 1 January 2013, are IFRS 10 Consolidated financial
statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities As a consequence of
this change 1n accounting policy, the net result of the joint ventures are shown 1n a single line on the income statement
and statement of financial position, rather than the Group’s proportion of their results being added to every line on the
prnimary statements Please see note 41 for further detail

Just-Eat Benelux BV

The Group holds 100% of the shares 1n Just-Eat Benelux BV (2011 56%) The Group mcreased its shareholding m
the company by 44% to 100% on 18 January 2012 Therefore, 1t 1s no longer treated as a joint venture rather, as a
subsidiary from this point Prior to gaining control, the joint venture was equaty accounted

FBA Invest Sa$

On 23 December 2011 the Group acquired 50% of the share capital of FBA Invest SaS, which owns 100% of the
share capital of Eat On Line SaS, the company trading under the brand “Alloresto fi” At the time of acquinng the
shareholding, the Group entered into a yoint-venture agreement with the other shareholders, this agreement established
two call options The Group has the first option to buy 20-50% more of the shareholding not already held, thus
obtaining between 70-100% of FBA Invest’s share capital This option 1s only exercisable between 1 June and 30 June
2014, after which 1t wall [apse The purchase price for these shares will be according to a pre-determined range of
prices set out 1n the Share Purchase Agreement

The second call option 15 held by the other 50% shareholders and only becomes exercisable should the
aforementioned Group option lapse The second call option 15 only exercisable for the penod 30 July 2014 to 31
December 2014 Thus option entitles the other 50% shareholders to purchase 70-100% of the Group’s holding in FBA
Invest SaS for a price determined by a fixed formula

Eat ch GmbH

On 22 March 2011, the Group acquired a 33% stake 1n Eat ch GmbH, which rose to 50% 1n September 2011 This1sa
trading entity operating in Switzerland

The 50% held in FBA Invest SaS and Eat ch GmbH are considered to be jointly controlled with substantive economic
interests held by the Group 50% of the result of these compames has therefore been recognised on the pnimary
statements of the Group using the equity accounting method
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18.  Joint ventures (continued)

2012 2011
Carrying value of joint ventures under equity accounting method £000 £000
Balance as at 1 January (restated) 7,247 (446}
Just-Eat Benelux becoming a subsidhary 615 -
Acquisition of investments 1n joint ventures - 7,934
Capital contnibution/change n holding 4 84
Share of post-tax losses (521) (257)
Foreign cxchange losses (178) (68)
Total asscts 7,167 7,247

£281k (2011 £7k) of intangible assets amortisation 1s included wathin the share of the post-tax losses of the joint
ventures

19 Investments
2012 2011
£000 £°000
Available for Sale investments carried at fair value
Balancc as at | January 6,918 419
Additional investment purchased - 1,777
Fair value adjustment (233) 4,624
Foreign exchange gain 5 98
Sale of OnlinePizza Norden AB shares (6,690) -
Total investments as at 31 December - 6,918

On 23 March 2012, the Group realised its investment 1n OnlineP1zza AB through a sale of 1ts interest to a third party
for £6,690k The net profit on disposal, after including £293k of due diligence costs was £4,274k

20.  Inventories
20n
02 £°000
£°000 Restated
Fimished goods 435 42

Inventones are compnsed of packaging matenals and consumable items provided to restaurants There 15 ne matenal
difference between the balance sheet value of stock and its replacement cost
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21 Trade and other receivables

2011

2012 £000

£°000 Restated

Amount reccivable for the provision of services 1,661 1,229
Allowance for doubtful debts (401) (289)
1,260 940

Other debtors 1,409 39
Prepayments 1,280 667
Amounts due from related parties (see note 40) - 162
Amounts due from joint ventures 543 624
4,492 2,432

In 2012, the amounts due from joint ventures comprised a loan made to Eat ch GmbH, the Swiss based business In
2011, the amounts duc from joint ventures comprised loans to Just-Eat Benelux BV, the Dutch based business The
recervable from Just-Eat Benclux BV has now been eliminated on consolidation following the acquisition of the 44%
sharcholding not previously held in January 2012

Trade receivables

Trade reccivables disclosed above are classified as loans and recervabics and are therefore measured at amortised
cost

The average credit perod taken on the sales of goods 1s 10 days (2011 13 days) The average age of the trade
receivables as at 31 December 2012 was 62 days (2011 65 days)

The Group has rcviewed all balances and has made an allowance for debts which are considered unhkely to be
collectable based on past default expenence, and an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial position
Allowances against doubtful debts are recogmised against trade receivables

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which arc past due at the reporting date but against which the
Group has not recogmised an allowance for doubtful receivables because there has not been a significant change 1n
credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances nor does 1t have a Jegal nght of offset against any amounts owed by the Group to
the counterparty

Movement 1n the allowance for doubtful debts:

2011
2012 £7000
£°000 Restated

Balance at the begmming of the penod (289) (144)
Linhsed 299 34

New provisions nect of releascs “11) (179
Balance at the end of the period (401) (289)
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21,  Trade and other recervables (continued)

[n determining the rccoverability of a trade recervable the Group considers any change i the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was imtially granted up to the reperting date The concentration of credit nsk 1s limated
due to the customer base being large and unrelated

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables i1s approximately equal to their far
value

22,  Trade and other payables

2011

2012 £7000

£°000 Restated

Trade creditors 14,250 6,501
Other creditors and accruals 5,998 2,703
Other taxes and soctal secunty 2,205 1,660
Deferred consideration 2,567 -
Amounts duc to related partics (sce note 40) - 160
25,020 11,024

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and on-going costs
Included 1n the trade creditor balance are amounts owed to restaurants (2012 £10 5m, 2011 £5 Im) [hesc amounts
are settled on a fortmghtly basis at most The average credit penod taken for trade purchases (including the amounts
owed to restaurants) 1s actually 11 days (2011 9 days) For most supphers no interest 1s charged on the trade payables
for the first 30 days from the date of the invoice Thereafter, interest 1s charged on the outstanding balances at vanious
interest rates The Group has financial nsk management policies in place to ensure that all payables arc paid within the
pre-agreed credit terms

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value

23.  Borrowings

2012 201

£7000 £7000
Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank overdrafts - 9
Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank loans - 54
Total borrowings
Amount due for scttlement within 12 months - 63
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23.  Borrowings

Analysis of borrowings by currency.

31 December 2011
Bank overdrafts
Bank loans

Canadian Damsh
Dollar Kroner Total
£000 £2000 £°000
_ 9 9
54 - 54
54 9 63

Duning 2012, the Group closed its overdraft facilitics with Sydbank A/S and Barclays Bank ple and repaid its loan
with the Royal Bank of Canada The Group deemed its cash reserves were sufficient to meet the needs of the business

24 Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s provided for as follows

Share Short term
based  Available timing Acquired
Losses payment for sale differences intangibles Total
£000 £°000 £°000 £7000 £7000 £°000
At 31 December 201 I (restated) 525 5 (1,174) 495 (185) (334)
Credit to the income statement (265) 7 - 425 445 612
Credit to equity - 7 1,174 - - 1,181
Foreign cxchange - - - 36 (13) 23
Rate change (39) - - (5) 7 (37N
Prior year adjustment (42) - - 377 70 (349)
Amounts arising on acquisition of
subsidiary undertakings - - - - (1,027 (1,027)
As at 31 December 2012 179 19 - 574 (703) 69
2012 20m
£°000 £2000
Analysed as
Non-current deferred tax hability (703) (1,360)
Non-current deferred tax asset 772 1,026
Balance at the end of the year 69 (334)

The Budget 2012 introduced a reduction 1n the main rate of corporation tax from 25% te 23% wath effect from 1 Apnl
2013 This legislation was substantively cnacted on 3 July 2012 and as such, in accordance with IFRS the rate of 23%
15 used for the calculation of the deferred tax position at 31 December 2012 on the basis that 1t will matenally reverse

after 1 Apnl 2013
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24.  Deferred tax (continued)

The Budget 2013 1ssued on 20 March 2013 announced that the main rate of corporation tax would be reduced to

21% from | Apnil 2014 and to 20% with cffect from | Apnil 2015 These future rate reductions had not been

substantively enacted at the balance shect date, therefore have not been rellected in these financial statements The

cffect of these rate reductions will be accounted for in the period they are substantively enacted

25.  Provisions for liabilities and charges
2012 201t
£'000 £000
Current 718 485
Non-current - 645
718 1,130

The provision of £718k (and the the prior year non-current provision of £645k) relates to contingent deferred
consuderation in respect of the Group's French joimnt venture €1 milhion 1s payable at the end of 2013 1f the joint
venture mects certamn performance criteria during 2013 The prior year current provision of £485k rclated to
contimgent deferred consideration i respect of the Group’s Brazihan business which was settled duning 2012

26.  Share capital
Note that this disclosure 15 not shown in £7000 This 1s due to the size of the numbers involved

Ordinary  Ordinary Preference Preference Preference

shares B shares A shares B shares C shares Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

At | January 2011 230 42 497 - - 1,369
Shares 1ssued - 89,843 - 176 - 90,019
Options exercised - 39 - - - 39
At 31 December 2011 830 89,924 497 176 - 91,427
Shares 1ssucd 6 - - - 231 237
Options exercised - 9 - - - 9
Ordinary B conversion - (19 - - 19 -
JSOP shares - 22 - - - 22
At 31 December 2012 836 89,936 497 176 250 91,695

Ordinary shares (par valuc of £0 0001 cach) cntitle the holders to reccive notice, attend, speak and vote at general

meetings

Ordinary B shares (par value of £0 0001 each) do not entitle the holders to receive notice, attend, speak or vote at any

gencral meeting
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26. Share capital {continued)

Any available profits which the company may determine to distnbute 1 respect of any financial year will be
distributed to the Preference A sharcholders, the Preference B shareholders, the Preference C sharcholders, the
Ordinary sharcholders and, to the cxtent that the aggregate amount of qualifying payments, both paid to date and for
the current financial year, exceed the B Ordinary shares participating amount, to the B Ordinary sharcholders pro rata

to their respective holdings

2,311,216 Preference C shares (par value £0 0001) were 1ssued in Apnl 2012 for cash consideration of £35,992k

191,655 B Ordinary shares (par value £0 0001) were converted to Preference C shares (par valuc £0 0001) 1n Apnil

2012 for cash consideration of £202k

50,000 Ordinary shares (par value £0 0001) were 1ssued as consideration for the acquisition of Just-Eat Benelux BV

5,000 Ordinary shares {par valtue of £0 0001) were 1ssued for cash of £17k
222,700 B Crdinary sharcs (par valuc of £0 0001) were 1ssued under the JSOP scheme See note 36
89,672 options over B Ordinary shares (par value £0 0001) were exercised dunng the year

Shares to be issued

Shares to the value of €100k (£85k) were 1ssued to the previous shareholders of SinDelantal Internct SL in February
of this year The 1ssue of the shares was contingent upon the provasion of integration services to the Group, post the
completion of the acquisition of SinDelantal Internet SL by the Group The £56k credit reflects the proportion of the
services completed at the balance sheet date with the respective charge of the same amount being included n

acquisition costs in the consolidated income statement

27,  Share prermium account

Balance at | January 2012

Premium ansing from 1ssue of equity shares — Sencs B
Premium ansing on exercise of share options over Ordinary B shares
Share 1ssue costs

Balance at 31 December 2012

Premium arising from 1ssuc of equity shares — Ordinary Shares

Premium ansing from issuc of equity sharcs — Senes C

Premium ansing from issue of equity sharcs - Just-Eat Benelux BV
acqusition

Prermum ansing from issue of equity shares — Ordinary B Shares

Sharc 1ssue costs

Balance at 31 December 2012

Share
premium
£°000
Restated

4,680

15,000
38
(310)

19,408
17
36,194

779
321
(1,045)

55,674
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28 Merger reserve

Merger
reserve
£7000

Balance at t January 2012 and 31 December 2012 1,921

In July 2009 a group reconstruction was undertaken Under this reconstruction ordinary shares were 1ssued and
cancelled and Preference A shares were 1ssued  This was treated as a common control transaction under [FRS as the
ultimate sharcholders and their relative nights were the same before and afterwards This reserve represents the
difference between the nomunal value of the shares issued and the nomunal value of the shares on the group
reorganisation in July 2009

29. Other reserves

Available
for sale Translation

reserve reserve Total

£000 £7000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2011 (restated) 54 19 73

Exchange differences ansing on available for salc investment - 98 98
Currency translation differences - Group - (151) (151)
Currency translation differences - Joint venturcs - () H

Effects of foreign exchange attributable to NCI - 5 5

Fair valuc adjustment of available for sale investment 4,624 - 4,624
Deferred tax Liabihity on available for sale investment (1,155) - (1,155

Balance at 1 January 2012 (restated — see note 41) 3,523 (30 3,493
Fair value adjustment of available for sale investment (233) - (233

Deferred tax hability on available for sale investment 57 - 57

Exchange differences anising on available for sale investment - 5 5
Sale of available for sale investment (3,347) (103) (3,450)
Currency translation differences - Group - (141) (141)
Currency translation differences - Joint ventures - (170} (170)
Effects of foreign cxchange attnibutable to NCI - (5 (5)
Balance at 31 December 2012 - (444) (444)

Translation reserve

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations, which relate to
subsidiaries and equity accounted joint ventures, from their functional currency into the parent’s rcporting currency,
bemg Pound Sterling, are recognmised directly i the translation reserve

Available for sale reserve

This arose on the revaluation to fair value of the Group’s investment in OnlinePizza Norden AB (see note 19) This
mvestment was sold in 2012 Thercfore, the reserve 1s ml at year end
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30. Retamed earnings

£'000
Balance at 1 January 2011 (restated) (5,880)
Loss attributable to the Group (607)
Adjustment ansing from change in NCI (718)
Balance at 1 January 2012 (restated) (7,20%)
Loss attributable to the Group (3.871)
Adjustments ansing from changes in NCI (176)
Balancc at 31 December 2012 (11,252)

The adjustments ansing from changes 1n NCI are 1n respect of capital injections into Achindra Onlime Marketing
Private Limuted and the resulting increases in the Group's sharehelding 1n this entity

31.  Non-controlling interest

£°000

Balance at 1 January 2011 (restated) (136)
Share of loss for the year (628)
Imitial recogmition of NCI on acquisition of

Achindra Online Marketing Private Limmted 113
Adjustment to NCI on increase 1n group ownership intcrest in Achindra Online

Marketing Private Limited 111
Buyout of Achindra Online Marketing Private Limuted nunonty sharcholders (16)
Adjustment to NCI on increase n group ownership intcrest in Just-Eat Canada Inc 467
Adjustment to NCI on increase in group ownership interest in Just-Eat Belgie BVBA 251
Effects of foreign exchange attributable to NCI (5)
Balance at 31 Dccember 201 1 (restated) 157
Share of loss for the ycar (634)
Adjustment to NCI on increase in group ownership interest in Achindra Online

Marketing Private Limited 89
Buyout of Achindra Onlinec Marketing Private Limited minority sharcholders (6}
Buyout of Just-Eat Belgie BVBA minonty shareholders 36
Effects of foreign exchange attnbutable to NCI 5
Balance at 31 December 2012 (353)

In January 2011 the Group acquired a 33% sharcholding 1n Achindra Online Marketing Private Limited This rose to
67% n hinc with planned injections of capital te the business by the Group throughout 2011 The substance of the
onginal investment transaction in January 2011 conferred control to the Group, subscquent injections of capital were
therefore accounted for wholly wathin equity in accordance with IFRS 3 (2008) Business Combinations

During 2012 the Group increased 1ts holding 1 Achindra Online Marketing Private Linuted, to 84%, through a
combination of a number of capital injections and the buy-out of a number of the minonty shareholders
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32.  Share based payment reserve

£°000
Balance at | January 2011 75
Credit to cquity for equity-settled share-based payments 97
Share options exercised in the period 33
Tax adjustment to share based payment reserve 172
Balance at 31 December 2011 306
Credit to cquity for equity-settled share-based payments 480
Share options exercised 1n the penod an
Tax adjustment to share based payment reserve 7

Balance at 31 December 2012 776

The tax adjustment to share based payment reserve anses because under IFRS the current tax corporation tax relief
available on the cxercise of the share options, 1n excess of the cumulative IFRS 2 Share Based Payments charge 1s
recognised in equity rather than being taken directly to the income statement  This follows the treatment of deferred
tax arising on sharc options
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33.  Acquisition of businesses

Just-Eat Benelux BV

In January 2012, the Group acquired the remaining 44% shareholding 1n Just-Eat Benelux BV, which 15 a trading
cntity operating in the Netherlands The nature of the control of this entity was such that it was accounted for as a joint
venture beforc the acquisition The sharcholding held by the Group 1s now 100% The acquisition has been accounted

for as a business combination 1n accordance with IFRS 3 (2008) Business Combinations

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and cquipment

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

Intangible assets — Restaurant list
Recogmition of deferred tax on restaurant list

Goodwill
Total consideration

Satisfied by

Cash

Sharcs

Fair valuc of previously held mterest
Deferred consideration

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition
Cash considcration
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Fair value
£°000

116
34

53
(1,299)
1,493
(373)

24
5,945

5,969

949
779
2,054
2,187

5,969

L —-aa———

949
(53)

896

A profit of £2,672k was recogmised on the deemed disposal of the Group’s previous joint venture nterest 1n Just-Eat

Benelux BY

The goodwill ansing on the acquisition of Just-Eat Benelux BV was attributable to the anticipated profitability of the
sale of the company’s products and the anticipated future operating synergies that we expected at the time we made

the acquisition

Frem the date control passed, this company contributed turnover of £1,710k and operating profit of £117k to the
Group Due to the date of acquisition being 18 January 2012, full year turnover and operating profit are not matenally

different

Acquisition costs of £17k were recognised in the income statement 1n 2012 1n relation to this business combination

Acquisttion costs of £60k were accrued and recognised in 2011

Deferred consideration of £2,187k 1s payable 1n two tranches in January 2013 (£833k} and July 2013 (£1,354)
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33.  Acqusition of businesses {continued)
FiliMyBelly Limited

In Apnl 2012, the Group acquired a 100% sharcholding in FillMyBelly Lumted, based wn the Umited Kingdom The
acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination n accordance with [FRS 3 (2008) Business
Combinations Management consider the substance of the transaction to constitute a business combination in the sense
laid out in the gencral provisions of IFRS 3 and the specific provisions of 1AS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Fiancial Statements relating to establishing control The Group 1s required to consohdate all subsidianies over which
control is established

Fair value
£°000
Net assets acquired.
Property, plant and equipment 9
Trade and other receivables 29
Cash and cash equivalents 36
Trade and other payables (59)
Intangible asscts — Restaurant hist 728
Intangible asset - Brand 99
Recogmtion of deferred tax on intangible assets (190)
652
Goodwill 759
Total consideration 1,411
Satisfied by
Cash 1,021
Deferred consideration 390
1,411
Net cash outflow arnising on the acquisition
Cash consideration 1,021
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (36)
985

The goodwill ansing on the acquisition of FiliMyBeclly Limited 1s attmbutable to the anticipated profitability of the
sale of the Company’s products and the anticipated future operating synergies

From the date control passed, this Company contributed turnover of £341k and operating profit of £45k to the Group

Had the company been acquired on | January 2012, it would have contnbuted £439k to revenue and £53k of
operating profit

Acquisition costs of £17k were recogmsed in the income statemcent in 2012 1n relation to this business combination

Deferred consideration of £390k 15 payable in April 2013
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33.  Acqusition of businesses (continued)
SinDelantal Internet S L

[n September 2012, a Group company acquired 100% of the share capital of SinDelantal Internet S L., an established
business operating throughout Spain The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination 1n accordance
with IFRS 3 (2008) Business Combinations Management consider the substance of the transaction to constitute a
business combination 1n the sense laid out 1n the general provisions of IFRS 3 and the specific provisions of IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements relating to establishing control The Group 1s required to consolidate
all subsidianes over which control 1s established

Fair value
£°000
Net asscts acquired
Property, plant and cquipment 14
Trade and other recervables 162
Cash and cash cquivalents 31
Trade and other payablcs (643)
Intangible asset - Restaurant list 1,194
Intangible asset - Brand 320
Recognition of deferred tax on intangible assets (464)
614
Goodwill 1,950
Total consideration 2,564
Satisfied by
Cash 2,564
2,564
Net cash outflow ansing on acquisition
Cash consideration 2,564
Cash and cash cquivalents acquired an
2,533

The goodwill ansing on the acqusition of SinDelantal Internet S L 15 attributable to the anticipated profitability of the
sale of the Company’s products and the anticipated future operating synergies

SmDelantal Internct 8§ L. contributed £33k to revenue and an operating loss of £157k in the penod between the date of
acquisttion and year end

Had the company been acquired on | January 2012, it would have contributed £179k to revenue and £930k of
opecrating loss

Acquisttion costs of £137k were recognised in the income statement m 2012 1n relation to this business combination
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i3 Acquisition of businesses (continued)
2011 acquusition of FBA Invest SaS (“Alloresto fr )

On 23 December 2011, the Group acquired a 50% nterest in FBA Invest SaS, a French holding company which owns
100% of the share capital of Eat Online Srl, trading as “Alloresto fi” As part of the deal to acquire the 50%
shareholding, the Group entered nto a joint venture agreement with the previous owners At the time of of 1ssuing the
Group’s 2011 financial statements the accounting for this acquisition was prowisional The acquisition accounting has
now been finalised and 1s detailed below

Fair value
(50% Share

Acquired)

£°000
Net assets acquired*
Property, plant and equipment 6
Trade and other reccivables 341
Cash and cash equivalents 732
Trade and other payables (1,227)
Intangible asset — Restaurant hist 842
Intangible asset — Brand 2,137
Recogmition of deferred tax on acquired intangibles (1,004)

1,827
Goodwill 5,793
Total consideration 7,620
Satisfied by
Cash 6,626
Acquisition costs settled 1n cash during 2012 332
Acquisition date fair value of contingent consideration 662
Total consideration 7,620
Net cash outflow ansing on acquisition 6,626

The goodwill ansing on the acquisihon of the 50% share in FBA Invest Sa$ 1s attributable to the anticipated
profitability of the sale of the company’s products in the market and the anticipated future operating synergies from
the combination

FBA Invest SaS contnbuted a loss of £7k to the Group’s shares of the results of joint ventures 1n the period between
the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date, 31 December 2011 Had the interest m the Group been acquired on
1 January 2011 it would have contributed a loss of £0 1 muillion to the Group’s share of the results of joint ventures
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33.  Acqusttion of businesses (continued)
Ear ch GmbH (eat ch”)

On 22 March 2011, the Group acquired a 33% cconomuc interest in Eat ch, a Swiss company As part of the deal to
acquire the 33% sharcholding, the Group entcred into a joint venturc agreement with the previous owners, which
comimitted the Group to contribute future funding to the venture and thereby increasing its economic interest to 50%
Management does not consider the substance of the transaction to confer control to the Group, and therefore have
recorded balances in accordance with 1AS 31 Jomnt Ventures and have apphed the equity method to record those
balances 1n the Group consohidated financial statements At the ttmc of of isswing the Group’s 2011 financial
statements the accounting for this acquisiion was provisional The acquisition accounting has now been finahised and
15 detailed below

Fair value
(50% Share
Acquired)
£°000
Net assets acquired*
Cash and cash equivalents 68
Trade and other payablcs (8
Intangible asset — customer hist 96
Recognition of deferred tax on acquired intangibles (8)
148
Goodwill 165

Total consideration 313

The total consideration of £313k was paid in cash and included £110k of acquisition costs The nct cash outflow
ansing on the acquisition was £313k

The goodwill ansing on the acquisition of the 50% share in Eat ch GmbH 15 attnbutable to the anticipated profitability
of the sale of the Company’'s products n thc market and the anticipated future operating syncrgics from the
combination

Eat ch GmbH contnibuted a loss of £0 1 million to the Group’s shares of the results of joint ventures 1n the period
between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date, 31 December 2011 Had the intercst in the Group been
acquired on 1 January 2011 1t would have contributed a loss of £0 2 mullion to the Group’s share of the results of jont
ventures

57




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2012

M. Notes to the cash flow statement

201
2012 Restated
£000 £°000
Loss for the year (4,505) (1,235
Adjustments for
Share of loss of joint ventures 521 257
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,760 1,114
Amortisation of intangible assets 529 155
Share-based payment expense 480 231
Income tax expense/{credit) 1,877 (497}
Net finance credit (89) (25}
Profit on disposal of OnlincPizza Norden AB (4,274) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 32 34
Prowvision for impairment 4,648 18
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 979 52
(Increasc)/decrease 1in mventories (393) 6
(Increase)/decrease 1n reccivables (1,200) 376
Increase in payables 10,059 4,981
Decrease in other provisions - (1,037)
Increase in deferred income 1,262 633
Cash gencrated by operations 10,707 5,211
[ncome taxes paid (564) (251)
[nterest paid (40) (75)
Net cash inflow from operating activitics 10,103 4,885
Cash and cash equivalents
2011
2012 Restated
£000 £°000

Cash and bank balances 50,026 7,858

Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash and short-term bank deposits with an onginal matunty of three months or
less The carrying amount of these asscts 1s approximately equal to their fair value
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35 Operating lease arrangements

The group as lessee

2011
2012 Restated
£°000 £°000
Minimum lcase payments under operating leascs
recogmsed as an expense 1n the year 1,003 613

At the balance shect date, the group had outstanding commitments for future mimmum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows

2012 2012 2011 2011
£°000 £°000 £°000 £°000
Restated Restated

Property Plant and Property Plant and

Equipment Equipment

Within one year 817 422 193 340
In the second to fifth years inclusive 908 431 1,113 434
1,725 B5S 1,306 774

36. Share based payments
Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company operate an EMI and CSOP share option scheme for certain employees of the Group Options are
excraisable at a price equal to the estimated fair value of the Company’s shares on the date of grant The vesting
period varies, but 15, on average, four years Options arc forfeited 1f the employee leaves the Group before the options
vest Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows

2012 2012 2011 2011

Weighted Weighted

Number of average Number of average

share exercise share exercise

options price options price

(‘060) (n £) (’000) (in £)

Qutstanding at 1 January 2011 430 171 677 037
Granted dunng the penod 128 701 155 412
Forfeited dunng the penod {(17) 529 (5) 234
Exercised during the period (90) 243 (397) 002
Expired during the penod - - -
Qutstanding at the end of the penod 451 388 430 205
Excrcisable at the end of the period 129 179 141 171
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36. Share based payments (continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options excraised during the period was £2 43
(2011 £002) The opuons outstanding at 31 December 2012 had a weighted average exercise price of £3 88 (2011
£2 05} and a weighted average remaining contractual hife of 39 months (2011 48 months) The aggregate of the
estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates was £1,749k (2011 £686k)

[n total, the Group recogmsed an expensc of £480k related to equity-settled sharc-based payment transactions in 2012
(2011 £231k)

The Group operates a number of equity settled, share based compensation plans In accordance with IFRS 2, the value
of the payments 1s measured at fair value at the date of the grant The fair value determined at grant date 1s expensed
on a straight hine basis over the vesting pertod, based on the Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest
The fair value of the options granted 1s calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted

The Group operates the following share incentive schemes
Enterprise Management Incentive (EMI} Scheme

Under the terms of the Just-Eat Group Holdings Limuted EMI Plan, the Board may grant options to purchase shares in
Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)

Under the terms of the Just-Eat Group Holdings Linmited CSOP Scheme, the Board may grant options to purchase
shares 1n the Company

The Group's CSOP scheme 1s an equity-settled share option scheme approved by HMRC Options may also be granted
under sumilar terms of this scheme, which are not HMRC approved The Group's CSOP scheme was established 1n
2011

Under the CSOP, the Board may grant options over shares in the Company to eligible employees The chgible
emplayees to who options are granted and the terms of such options will be determined by the Board The employees
who are chigible to participate in the CSOP are all employecs, including the employces of the Company's subsidiaries
Options are not transferable

The exercise price of options may not be less than the market value of the Company's shares on the date of grant, in
order for the scherne to quahfy as an approved HMRC scheme

Vested options in the CSOP scheme become exercisable when the Company achieves an exit

The vesting period for the CSOP 1s four years If the options remain unexercised after a penod of ten years from the
date of grant or the employce leaves the Group, the options expire (subject to a liiited number of exceptions)

Joint Share Ownership Plan (JSOF)

Interests take the form of a restncted interest in B Ordinary shares in the Company An Intercst permits a Participant
to benefit from the increase (if any) in the value of a number of B Ordinary shares i the Company over specified
threshold amounts In order to acquire an Interest, a Participant must enter into a joint share ownership agreement with
the EBT Trustee, (Appleby Trust (Jersey) Limited) under which the Participant and the EBT Trustee jomtly acquire
the Shares and agree that when the Shares are sold the Participant has a nght to recerve a proportion of the sale
proceeds insofar as the value of the Shares exceeds the threshold amount

The JSOP 15 an Executive incentive scheme 1t 15 a share ownership scheme under which the Employee and Appleby
Trust (Jersey) Limited, the EBT Trustee, held at the balance sheet date joint interest in 222,700 B Ordinary sharcs

The vesting of the Interests granted to Employees 1s subject to a time vesting condition with one quarter of the Interest
in the Shares vesting on the first anniversary of their acquisition and 6 25% every quarter after that

60




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

36. Share based payments (continued)
Joint Share Ownership Plan (JSOP) (continued)

The fair value of the interests awarded under the JSOP was determined using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing

Model Details of the JSOP interests are shown below

Number
of shares
Tranche 1 46,000
Tranche 2 85,000
Tranche 3 31,700
Tranche 4 60,000
222,700

Assumptions

Vesting date

01/04/2011
01/07/2011
01/10/2011
01/01/2012

Threshold Expected
(£) life

125 48 months

450 48 months

325 48 months

325 48 months

In determining the fair value of the interests granted, the Black-Scholes Option Pnicing Model was used with the

following mputs

Weighted average sharc price

Weighted average excrcise price

Expected volatility (based on FTSE 350 3 year)
Expected life

Risk-free rate

Expected dividend yiclds

37 Deferred revenue

Current deferred revenue
Non-current deferred revenue

Total deferred revenue

2012 2011
£ £
1125p 825p
701p 412p
17 2% 19 2%
48 months 48 months
1 58% 1 60%
0% 0%
2011
2012 £°000
£000 Restated
2,442 1,715
1,287 751
3,729 2,466

JCT boxes lcased by restaurants are paid for upfront This revenuc 1s deferred over 36 months An installation and
connection fee 1s also charged This portion of the revenuc 1s recognised over a 12 month penod

38. Financial instruments

Financial instruments compnse both financial assets and financial habilitics  The carrying valuc of these financial

assets and habilities approximate their fair value

Financial assets n thc Group comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and investments
classified as available for sale These types are all classified as other financial assets in the following table
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38.  Financial instruments {continued)

Financial hablities in the Group comprise borrowings which are categonised as debt at amortised cost Financial
habilities also comprise trade and other payables which are classified as other financial habilhities

Capstal risk management

The Group manages 1ts capital to ensurc that entities i the Group will be able to continue as going ¢oncerns while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equuty balance

The capital structure of the Group consists of mimmal borrowings, as disclosed tn note 23, cash and cash equivalents
and equity attnbutable to equity holders of the parent, comprising 1ssued capital, reserves and retained earmings as
disclosed 1n notes 26, 29, and 30

The Group 1s not subject to any externally imposcd capital requirements
Significant accounting policies

Dectails of the sigmficant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial liability
and equity mstrument are disclosed n note 1

Fmancial risk management objectives

The man financial nsks faced by the Group are credit nisk, liquidity nisk and market nisks, which mclude interest rate
nsk and currency risk  The Board regularly reviews these nsks and approves wntten policies covering the
management of these nsks The Group does not enter imto or trade financial instruments, including denvative
financial tnstruments, for speculative purposes

Categories of financial instruments

2011
2012 £°000
£°000 Restated
Fwnancial assets
Other financial assets
Cash and bank balanccs 50,026 7.858
Trade and other receivables 4,492 2,432
Investments classified as available for sale - 6,918
Total financial assets 54,518 17,208
Financaial liabilities
At amortised cost
Borrowings - 63
Other financial habilities
Trade and other payables 25,020 11,024
Total financial habilities 25,020 11,087

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose 1t pnmarily to the financial nsks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates
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38. Financial instruments (continued)
Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes transactions denorminated m foreign currencies, consequently exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations anise

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
reporting date are as follows

Assets Liabilities

2012 2011 2012 2011

£2000 £°000 £000 £000
Euro 1,674 4,344 1,995 3,137
Canadian Dollar 707 262 936 651
Danish Kroner 6,050 2,845 2,864 2,888
Norwegian Kroner 337 224 221 179
Indian Rupec 124 184 68 17
Brazihan Reals 254 128 449 187

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group 15 primarily exposed to the Euro and Damsh Kroner

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% depreciation 1n Pound Sterling against the relevant foreign
currencies  10% 1s the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency nisk mternally to key management
personnel and represents management’s asscssment of a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monctary items and adjusts their
translation at the penod end for a 10% change n foreign currency rates The sensitivity analysis includes external
loans as wcll as loans to foreign operations within the Group

Euro Damish Kroner Canadian Dellar Brazilian Real  Norwegian Kroner
impact impact impact Impact Impact
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 201 2012 201t 2012 2011
£7000 £°000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £°000 £°000 £°000
Other
Comprehensive
{loss)income 73 (72) 373 ay (43) (107) (22) 76 10 2

The Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency is the result of increased activity in the foreign owned subsidiaries which
has led to a significant increase 1n foreign currency denominated trade payables and trade recervables

Interest rate rnsk management

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial habihities are detailed in the hquidity nisk
management section of this note

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the balance sheet date
For floating ratc habilities, the analysis 1s prepared assurming the amount of lhabihity outstanding at the balance sheet
date was outstanding for the whole year A 10% increase or decrcasc of the interest rate 15 used when reporting
interest rate nisk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change n interest rates
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38. Financial instruments (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates had been 10% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
e Profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 would mcrease/decrease by £20k (2011 £9k), and
¢ There would have been no effect on amounts recognised directly in equity

Other price risks

The Group 1s exposed to equity price nisks arising from cquity investments Equity mvestments arc held for strategic
rather than trading purposes The Group docs not actively trade these investments

Credit nsk management

Credit nisk refers to the nisk that a counterparty will default on 1its contractual obligations resulting 1n financial loss to
the Group The Group’s exposurc and the credit ratings of 1ts counterparties are continuously momtored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded 1s spread amongst approved counterparties

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across geographical arcas On-going credit
cvaluation 1s performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropnate, credit guarantee
msurance cover 15 purchased

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which 1s net of impairment losses,
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to crecdht nsk as no collateral or other credit enhancements are held

The credit nsk on liquid funds 15 hmited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencics

Liqundity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for hquidity sk management rests with the board of directors, which has cstablished an
appropnate liquidity nsk management framework for the management of the Group’s short-, medium- and long-term
funding and hquidity management requirements The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves
and banking facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the matunty
profiles of financial assets and habilitics

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The foliowing tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for 1ts non-denvative financial habilities with
agrecd repayment periods The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial habilities
based on the earhest date on which the Group can be required to pay The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount 1s derived from interest rate
curves at the balance sheet date The contractual matunty 1s based on the earliest date on which the Group may be
required to pay

64




Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2012

38. Fmancial instruments (continued)

Weighted
average
effective
interest Less than 1-2
rate 1 year years 2-5 years 5+ years Total
Yo £2000 £000 £°000 £000 £7000
31 December 2012
Non-interest beaning - 25,020 - - - 25,020
25,020 - - - 25,020
31 December 2011
Non-interest bearing - 11,024 - - - 11,024
Variable intcrest rate instruments 417 63 - - - 63
11,087 - - - 11,087

The amounts included above for vanable interest rate mstruments for both non-derivative financial assets and
lhabilities 15 subject to change 1f changes in varable interest rates differ to those estimates of intcrest rates determined
at the reporting date

The following table details the Group’s expected matunity for its non-denvative financial asscts The tables below
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturitics of the financial asscts including interest that will
be carned on those asscts The melusion of mformation on non-denvative financial assets 15 nccessary to understand
the Group’s hiqudity risk management as the hiquichty 1s managed on a net asset and hability basis

Less than 1-2 2-5

1 year years years 5+ years Total
£7000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £:000

2012
Non-interest bearing 54,518 - - - 54,518
54,518 - - - 54,518

201
Non-interest bearing 17,208 - - - 17,208
17,208 - - - 17,208

The Group has previously had access to financing overdraft facihities, which as of the balance sheet datc have all been
cancelled The Group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows and proceeds of maturing
financial assets
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38. Financial instruments (continued)

Financing facilities
2012 2011
£000 £°000
Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call
- amount used - 9
- amount unused - 4,245
- 4,254

Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial habilities recorded at amortised cost
m the financial statements approximate theuwr fair values

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fuir value

The fair values of financial assets and financial habihties are deterrmned as follows

¢ The far values of other financial assets and financial liabiliies are determined n accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market
transactions

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to mtial recognition at
farr value, grouped mto Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value 15 observable

¢ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabifities,

e Level 2 fair value measurements are those denved from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or hability, either directly (1 e as prices) or indirectly (1 ¢ denved from prices),
and

e Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techmques that mclude inputs for the asset or
hability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable mputs)

There were no available for sale financial assets held as at 31 December 2012

2011
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£000 £°000 £:000 £°000
Available for Sale financial assets
Unquoted equities - - 6,918 6,918
Total - - 6,918 6,918

There were no transfers between levels during the year As OnlinePizza Norden AB was not histed, a number of
assumptions were used to calculate the fair value of the shares held The OnlineP1zza Norden AB mvestment was
disposed of during 2012 therefore no available for sale assets exast at the 2012 year end
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38. Financisal instruments {continued)
Reconciliation of Level 2 fair value measurements of financial assets:

Available for sale unquoted equities

Level 2 Level 3 Total

£°000 £000 £°000
Balance at | January 2012 - 6,918 6,918
Sale of available for sale unquoted entity - (6,918) (6,918)

Balance at 31 December 2012 - - .

Sigmificant assumptions used in determining fair value of financial assets

Unhsted shares

The financial statements include holdings 1n unlisted shares which are measured at fair value (note 19) Fair value 1s
estimated usmg a market data model, which refers to observable market prices or rates In the pnor year a discounted
cash flow model was used 1n the absence of observable market prices In the current year, the valuation was based on a
third party offer price and subsequent sale price of the investment

In determining the fair value in the prior year, an earnings growth factor of 3 8% and a cash flow nsk adjustment
factor of 2% are used Cash flows were discounted at 12 74% If the discount rate used in the model was increased by
10% to 14 01% while all the other vanables were held constant, the carrying amount of the shares would decrease by
£43,870 In the current year, as the valuation 1s derived from observable market prices, the valuation risk present m
the prior year is substantially reduced

39,  Events after the balance sheet date

Through the acquisiion of Power & Power Investments Inc in January 2013 the Group acquired the 18% munornty
stake m Just-Eat Canada Inc not previously held The Group now has an effective 100% shareholding in Just-Eat
Canada Inc The total consideration paid 1s dependent on the performance of the Canadian business, but will be no
more than Canadian $3 Om {£1 9m)

The loan to Eat ch GmbH was converted to equity 1n February 2013, taking the Group’s interest 1n this entity from
50% to 64%

Klaus Nyengaard resigned as Director and CEO on 31 January 2013 After conducting a comprehensive search, the
Board appointed David Buttress, the Chief Commercial Officer and former UK Managing Director as CEQ
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40.  Related party transactions

Balances and transactions between the company and 1ts subsidianes, which are related parties, have been eluninated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note
Loans to related parties

The following amounts were outstanding at the balance sheet date

Amounts owed to Amounts owed from
related parties related parties
2012 2011 2012 2011
£000 £000 £'000 £°000
Key management personnel - - - 162
Happy Investments BV - 160 - -
- 160 - 162

Happy Investments BV was a related party through its 46% shareholding 1n Just-Eat Benelux BV and 25%
shareholding 1n Just-Eat Belgie BVBA This company was bought out in January 2012, so the Group now has a 100%
shareholding 1n both Just-Eat Benelux BV and Just-Eat Belgie BVBA

41.  Prior year restatement

The Group has restated its previously issued Consolidated Income Statement, Balance Sheet, and Cash Flow
Statement for the year ended 31 December 2011 due to two changes in accounting policy

Until 2012, the Group accounted for 1ts joint ventures using the proportional consolidation methoed, as recommended
by IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures However, in 2012, the Group elected to change its accounting policy to equity
accounting 1n preparation for new accounting standards that require this method of presentation These new standards,
which become effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, are IFRS 10 Consolidated financial
statements, IFRS 11 Jowint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities As a consequence of
this change 1n accounting policy, the net result of the joint ventures are shown 1 a single ine on the income statement
and statement of financial position, rather than the Group’s proportion of their results being added to every line on the
primary statements

The JCT connectiton and nstallation fee revenue 1s deferred to the balance sheet and recognised on a straight lIine basis
over 12 months The connection and installation fees are non-refundable and 12 months 1s considered to be the
required penod of service Revenue from the connection and mstallaton of JCTs was previously recogmsed
immediately on installation

As a result of these two changes, the 2011 reported revenue was reduced by £1 3 million to £33 8§ million The
operating loss was unchanged at £1.8 milhon The overall net result of the Group was improved by £0 3 million to a
loss of £1 2 nmulhion

The impact on the 2011 balance sheet has been to reduce non-current assets by £1 2 million to £24 0 million, and
current assets by £1 0 million to £10 3 mullion Non-current lhabilities have also reduced by £0 8 mallion to £2 8
mllion and current hiabilities have reduced by £0 9 rmihion to £13 4 milhon Overall net assets and equity have fallen
by £0 5 mallion to £18 2 nullion
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Note
Fixed assets
Investments 43

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiary compantes 44
Trade and other reccivables

Net current assets

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called-up share capital 45
Share prermum account 46
Retained carmings 47
Share based payment reserve 47

Shareholders’ funds

2012 2011
£000 £2000
2,616 89
2616 89

55,466 18,306

235 -

55,701 18,306

58,317 18,395

58,317 18,395

92 91

55,674 19,408

1,951 (1,234)
600 130
58,317 18,395

The financial statements of Just-Eat Group Holdings Limited (Registration number 06947854) were approved by the
Board of Directors and authorised for 1ssue on 94 September 2013 They were signed on its behalf by

rd

David Buttress
Chief Exccutive

U September 2013
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Reconciliation of movements on shareholders’ funds

At 31 December 2012

Balance at 1 January 2011

Result for year

Shares 1ssucd
Credit to equaty for equity settled share bascd payments
Adjustment for share options exercised n the period

Balance at 31 December 2011

Result for year

Shares 1ssued

Sharc 1ssuc costs

Credit to equity for equity settled sharc bascd payments
Tax adjustment to share based payment reserve
Adjustment for share options exercised n the period

Balance at 31 December 2012

Retained
Earnings
and Share
Share Based
Premium Payment Total
Share Capital Account Reserve Equity
£000 £7000 £000 £000
1 4,680 (1,079} 3.602
- - (83) (83)
90 14,728 - 14,818
- - 96 96
- - (38) (38)
91 19,408 (1,104) 18,395
- - 3,185 3,185
1 37,311 - 37.312
- (1,045) - (1,045)
- - 480 480
7 7
- - (17) (17
92 55,674 2,551 58,317
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42,  Sigmificant accounting policies
Accounting convention

The financial statements are prepared under the histonical cost convention and in accordance with apphicable United
Kingdom accounting standards The particular accounting policies adopted are described below

The Company has taken the exemptions permitted under FRS t (Revised 1996) Cash Flow Statement and FRS 8
Related Party Disclosures that allow companies for which consolidated financial statements are prepared not to
prepare a cash flow statement, retated parties disclosure and profit and loss account

Going concern

See note 1 to the Group consolidated financial statements

Investments

Fixed asset investments are shown at cost less provision for impairment

In the Company balance sheet, for investments 1n subsidianes acquired for consideration including the 1ssue of shares
qualifying for merger relief, cost 1s measurcd by reference to the nominal value only of the shares 1ssucd  Any
premium 1s 1gnored

Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered)
using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 1s recognised n respect of all ming differences that have onginated but not reversed at the balance sheet
date where transactions or events that result 1n an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a nght to pay less tax in
the future have occurred at the balance sheet date  Timuing differences are differences between the Company’s taxable
profits and 1its results as stated 1n the financial statements that anise from the inclusion of gans and losses n tax
assessments an penods different from those in which they are recogmised 1n the financial statements

A net deferred tax asset 15 regarded as recoverable and thercfore recognised only when, on the basis of all available
cvidence, 1t can be regarded as more hkely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future
reversal of the underlying tming differences can be deducted

Deferred tax 15 not recogmsed when fixed asscts are revalued unless by the balance sheet date there 1s a binding
agrecment to sell the revalued assets and the gan or loss expected to anise on sale has been recogmised in the financial
statements Neither 15 deferred tax recognised when fixed assets are sold and 1t 1s more hikely than not that the taxable
gain will be rolled over, being charged to tax only 1f and when the replacement assets are sold

Deferred tax 15 measured at the average tax rates that arc cxpected to apply in the penods 1 which the timing
differences arc expected to reverse based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance shect date  Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discountcd basis

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencics are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction Monetary assets
and habihities denommated n forcign currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of exchange
prevailing at that date

Share based payments

The company complies with FRS 20 Share-based payment
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43 Investments

2012 2011

£000 £°000

At cost less amounts written off at beginming of year 89 |
Additions 2,527 88
At cost kess amounts written off at end of year 2,616 89

The increase in the year relates to share based payments made within the Group and dividend received from Just Eat
Group Limmted pnor to its liqudation
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43 Investments (continued)

A list of the significant investments in subsidianes, including the name, country of incorporation, and proportion of
ownership 1s given below

Representing:

Subsidiary undertakings
Just Eat Group Limuted
Just Eat Holding Linuted

Just Eat co uk Ltd
Biteguide GmbH
Just-Eat Ireland

Just Eat Host A/S

Just Eat dk ApS

Just Eat no As
Just-Eat ca Management
Liruted

Just Eat Canada Inc
Just-Eat Belgie BVBA
Just-Eat Spain SLU
EatStudent Limited

Justeat Brasil Servicos Online

LTDA

Achindra Onhine Marketing

Private Limited
Just-Eat ltaly Sr 1

Urbanbite Holdings Limited

Urbanbite Limited
Yummyweb Inc
Just-Eat Benelux BY
SinDelantal Internct S L
FillMyBelly Limited

Jomnt ventures
FBA Invest Sa$S
Eat On Line SaS
Eat ch GmbH

Fixed asset tnvestments
Onlin¢gPizza Norden AB

Proportion of

Country of voting rights
incorporation held
2012
UK Nil
UK 100%
UK 100%
Germany 100%
Ireland 100%
Denmark 100%
Denmark 100%
Norway 160%
Canada 100%
Canada 82%
Belgium 100%
Spain 100%
UK 100%
Brazil 100%
India 84%
Italy 100%
UK 100%
UK 100%
Canada 100%
Netherlands 100%
Spain 100%
UK 100%
France 50%
France 50%
Switzerland 50%
Sweden Nil

* Indirect holding by Just-Eat Group Holdings Lirmited

Proportion of
voting rights
held

2011

100%
100%

100% *
100% *
100% *
100% *
100% *
100% *
100% *

82%*
75%*
100% *
100% *
100% *

67%*

j00% *
100% *
100% *
100% *
56% *
Nil
Nil

50%*
50% *
50% *

19% *

Nature of business

Holding company
Holding and
management company
Online takeaway portal
Online takeaway portal
Onlinc takcaway portal
Host servers

Onlinc takcaway portal
Online takeaway portal
Holding company

Online takcaway portal
Onlinc takeaway portal
Online takeaway portal
Online takeaway portal
Online takcaway portal

Onlinc takcaway portal

Online takcaway portal
Holding company

Onlinc takeaway portal
Online takeaway portal
Online takeaway portal
Onlinc takcaway portal
Onlhine takcaway portal

Holding company
Online takeaway portal
Online takcaway portal

Onlinc takecaway portal
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44.  Financial assets
Amounts due from subsidiary companies

At the balance sheet datc amounts receivable from fellow group compames are £55 5 milhon (2011 £18 3 million)
The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fairr value There are no past due or impaired receivable
balances (2011 £ml)

45.  Share capital

Note that this disclosure 1s not shown i £'000 This 1s due to the size of the numbers involved

Ordinary  Ordinary Preference Preference Preference

shares B shares A shares B shares C shares Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

At 1 January 2011 830 42 497 - - 1,369
Shares 1ssued - 89,843 - 176 - 50,019
Options exercised - 39 - - - 39
At 31 December 2011 830 89,924 497 176 - 91,427
Shares 1ssued 6 - - - 231 237
Options exercised - 9 - - - 9
Ordinary B conversion - (9 - - 19 -
JSOP shares - 22 - - - 22
At 31 December 2012 836 89,936 497 176 250 91,695

Ordinary shares (par value of £0 0001 each) entitle the holders to receive notice, attend, speak and vote at general
mcctmgs

Qrdinary B shares (par value of £0 0001 cach) do not entitle the holders to recetve notice, attend, speak or vote at any
general meeting

Any available profits which the company may determine to distnbute n respect of any financial year will be
distributed to the Preference A shareholders, the Preference B sharcholders, the Preference C sharcholders, the
Ordinary shareholders and, to the extent that the aggregate amount of qualifymg payments, both paid to date and for
the current financial year, exceed the B Ordinary shares participating amount, to the B Ordinary sharcholders pro rata
to their respective holdings

2,311,216 Preference C shares (par valuc £0 0001) were 1ssucd 1n Apnl 2012 for cash of £35,992k

191,655 B Ordinary shares (par value £0 0001) were converted to Preference C shares (par value £0 0001) in Apnl
2012 for cash consideration of £202k

50,000 Ordinary shares (par value £0 0001) were 1ssued as consideration for the acquisition of Just-Eat Benclux BV
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45 Share capital (continued)

5,000 Ordinary sharcs {par value of £0 0001} were 1ssued for cash consideratton of £17,200
222,700 B Ordinary shares (par value of £0 0001) were 1ssued under the JSOP scheme
89,672 options over B Ordinary shares (par value £0 0001) were cxercised during the year

46.  Share premium

Balance at | January 2011

Premium ansing from issue of equity sharcs ~ Scnies B
Prermum ansing on exercise of share options over Ordinary B Shares
Sharc 1ssuc costs

Balance at 31 December 2011

Premium ansing from issuc of equaty shares — Ordimary Shares

Premium ansing from issue of equity sharcs ~ Senes C

Premmum ansing from issue of equity shares ~ Just-Eat Benclux BV acquisition
Prermum ansing from 1ssuc of equity shares — Ordinary B Shares

Share 1ssuc costs

Balance at 31 December 2012

47 Retained earnings and share based payment reserve

Balance at 1 January 2011

Net profit for the year
Credit to equity for equity settled share-based payments
Adjustment for sharc options exercised in the penod

Retained earmings and Share based payment reserve at | January 2012
Net profit for the year

Credit to equity for cquity settled share-based payments

Tax adjustment to share based payment reserve

Adjustment for share options exercised 1n the period

Retained carmings and Share based payment reserve at 31 December 2012

Share
premium
£°000

4,680

15,000
38
(310)

19,408
17
36,194
779
321
(1,045)

35,674

£000
(1,079)
(83)
96
(38)
(1,104)
3,185

480
7

(17)

2,551

75




